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IN THE UNITED STATES

OFFERING MEMORANDUM

INEQS

INEOS Finance plc

€550,000,000 21/8% Senior Secured Notes due 2025
Guaranteed on a senior secured basis by
INEOS Group Holdings S.A., INEOS Luxembourg I S.A., INEOS Holdings Limited

and certain of their subsidiaries

INEOS Finance plc (the “Issuer”) is offering (the “Offering”) €550,000,000 aggregate principal amount of its
2'/% Senior Secured Notes due 2025 (the “Notes™). Interest will accrue from November 3, 2017 and be payable
semi-annually on the Notes on May 15 and November 15 of each year, beginning May 15, 2018.

The Notes will mature on November 15, 2025. Some or all of the Notes may be redeemed prior to November 15,
2020, by paying 100% of the principal amount of such Notes plus a “make-whole” premium, and at any time on or after
November 15, 2020, at the redemption prices set forth in this offering memorandum. In addition, at any time on or prior to
November 15, 2020, we may redeem up to 40% of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes with the net proceeds of
certain equity offerings.

Upon the occurrence of certain events constituting a “change of control,” each holder of the Notes may require the
Issuer to repurchase all or a portion of its Notes. All of the Notes may also be redeemed at 100% of their principal amount
plus accrued interest if at any time the Issuer or any guarantor becomes obligated to pay withholding taxes as a result of
certain changes in law.

The Notes are the Issuer’s senior secured obligations and (i) rank pari passu in right of payment with all of the
Issuer’s existing and future indebtedness that is not subordinated to the Notes; and (ii) are guaranteed by INEOS Group
Holdings S.A. (the “Parent”), INEOS Luxembourg I S.A. (“Lux I”’), INEOS Holdings Limited and certain of their
subsidiaries on a senior secured basis (together, the “Guarantors™). Within 30 days (or in the case of certain deposit account
and security account control agreements and certain real property collateral, 60 days and 90 days, respectively) after
issuance, the Notes and the guarantees will be secured by first ranking liens (subject to certain exceptions) on the same
assets that secure the 2023 Senior Secured Notes and the Senior Secured Term Loans as more fully described in
“Description of the Collateral and Guarantees,” and elsewhere in this offering memorandum.

This offering memorandum includes more detailed information on the terms of the Notes, the guarantees and the
security interests as briefly described above, including redemption and repurchase prices, security, covenants and transfer
restrictions and thus, the offering memorandum should be read as a whole by any prospective purchaser in making a
determination as to whether to invest in the Notes. This offering memorandum may only be used for the purposes for which
it has been published.

Currently there is no public market for the Notes. Application has been made to list the Notes on the Official List
of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and for trading on the Euro MTF market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (the
“Euro MTF Market”). This offering memorandum constitutes a prospectus for purposes of Part IV of the Luxembourg law
on prospectus securities dated July 10, 2005, as amended. The Euro MTF market is not a regulated market pursuant to the
provisions of Directive 2004/39/EC on markets in financial instruments. The Euro MTF market falls within the scope of
Regulation (EC) 596/2014 on market abuse and the Directive 2014/57/EU on criminal sanctions for market abuse.

Investing in the Notes involves risks that are described in the “Risk Factors” section beginning on page 19 of this offering
memorandum.
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Issue price for the Notes: 100.000% plus accrued interest from the issue date, if any.

The Notes and the guarantees have not been, and will not be, registered under the U.S. Securities Act of
1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), or the securities laws of any other jurisdiction. The Notes are being offered
and sold only to (i) qualified institutional buyers in accordance with Rule 144A under the Securities Act and
(ii) non-U.S. persons outside the United States in accordance with Regulation S under the Securities Act. For
further details about eligible offerees and resale restrictions, please see “Notice to Investors.”

Delivery of the Notes was made to investors in book-entry form through Euroclear Bank SA/NV (“Euroclear”)
and Clearstream Banking, société anonyme (“Clearstream’) on November 3, 2017. Interests in each global note will be
exchangeable for the relevant definitive Notes only in certain limited circumstances. See “Book-Entry; Delivery and
Form.”

Joint Global Coordinators

J.P. Morgan Barclays Citigroup

Joint Bookrunners

BMO Capital Markets Credit Suisse Deutsche Bank ING Lloyds Bank

The date of this offering memorandum is November 15, 2017.
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You should rely only on the information contained in this offering memorandum. None of the Issuer, the
Guarantors, any other members of the Group or any of the initial purchasers (each, as defined herein) has authorized anyone
to provide you with different information. If anyone provides you with different or inconsistent information, you should not
rely on it. None of the Issuer, the Guarantors, any other members of the Group or any of the initial purchasers is making an
offer of the Notes in any jurisdiction where the Offering is not permitted. You should not assume that the information
contained in this offering memorandum is accurate at any date other than the date on the front of this offering
memorandum. Our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects may have changed since that date.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL AND NON-IFRS INFORMATION ......ccccccoiiiminininieieieeneneneeeeeeeenens X
CERTAIN DEFINITIONS ..ot sttt xii
EXCHANGE RATE INFORMATION .....cociiiiiiiiiiiiiiiciceees ettt xvii
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS ..o Xviii
TAX CONSIDERATIONS ...t st s XX
TRADEMARKS AND TRADE NAMES .....c.oiiiiiiiiiiiie et XX
HISTORICAL AND CURRENT MARKET AND INDUSTRY DATA ......cccoiiiiiiiiiiiieiiicicccccees XX
SUMMARY .ottt sttt ettt sa ettt et et e b s et e b e e aeeae et et e bt s et b e e ueea et nbe st b eaeeae et enne e 1
RECENT DEVELOPMENTS ..ottt sttt st ettt a e st sae e nens 9
THE OFFERING ...ttt sttt ettt sttt et be et e bt eae e st e s e ae st e s besbeebe et ennennens 11
SUMMARY HISTORICAL CONSOLIDATED AND OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION ........ccccoceeveeennene. 15
RISK FACTORS ...ttt ettt st sttt et et b e sa e bt e aeeas et et e ae s b e e besaeebe et ennennens 19
THE TRANSACTIONS ...ttt ettt st sttt ettt st b e ae e et et e s e saeebesbeebe et ennennens 48
USE OF PROCEEDS ..ottt sttt 49
CAPITALIZATION ...ttt et s b et a e s e et 50
SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION ......ccccoiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiicceeiec e 51
OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW AND PROSPECTS........cociiiiiiiiiiiiiiiicccccceeeee 54
INDUSTRY AND MARKET OVERVIEW ..ottt 81
BUSINESS .ttt sttt et ettt et st bt st eh et e et e b sa e e bt eat e s e et et e ae st e besaeebe et ennennens 94
THE ISSUER ...ttt ettt sttt st e h ettt be sa e e bt e ae s e st et e s e st e besbeebee st ennennens 126
MANAGEMENT ...ttt ettt st st eb ettt b e sa e e bt eae e s et et e ae st e besbeebe e st ennennens 127
PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS .....ccoiiiiiiiiiiieientt ettt sttt s 129
CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS ....cccoiiiiiiiiiiiieiceneeneeeeeeenns 130
DESCRIPTION OF OTHER INDEBTEDNESS ......coiiiiiiiiiiieienteeeeeteteie sttt st 133
DESCRIPTION OF THE NOTES ..ottt 155
DESCRIPTION OF THE COLLATERAL AND THE GUARANTEES.........ccccoiiiiiiiiiiiiiicicceeeee 247
LIMITATIONS ON VALIDITY AND ENFORCEABILITY OF THE GUARANTEES AND THE SECURITY

INTERESTS ... et s 255
BOOK-ENTRY; DELIVERY AND FORM.....ccccciiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiccee et 293
CERTAIN TAX CONSIDERATIONS ..ot 297
NOTICE TO INVESTORS ...ttt ettt sttt sa e b e et ennen 302
PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION ......oootiiiiiitiiiiteiet ettt ettt sttt ettt et et st e b sttt aesae b sae st ennennens 306
LEGAL MATTERS ...ttt st st ettt st b e ettt esae st e b e saeebe et ennennens 309
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS .....ooiiiiiiiiiieie ettt sttt st sttt ae st sae e nens 309
WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION........cccititiiiiimiiiinieteteietetesie sttt ettt 310
SERVICE OF PROCESS AND ENFORCEMENT OF JUDGMENTS.........cccciiiiiiiiiiiiiiieccceeee 311
LISTING AND GENERAL INFORMATION .......ccciiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii et 320
INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS......ccoiiiiiiiiiiiiiciccccccc s F-1
GLOSSARY OF SELECTED TERMS ......cciiiiiiiiiiiiiceee e G-1



IMPORTANT INFORMATION

We have prepared this offering memorandum solely for use in connection with the offer of the Notes to qualified
institutional buyers under Rule 144 A under the Securities Act and to non-U.S. persons (within the meaning of Regulation S
under the Securities Act) outside the United States under Regulation S under the Securities Act. We have not authorized its
use for any other purpose. By accepting delivery of this offering memorandum, you agree to these restrictions. Please see
“Notice to Investors.”

This offering memorandum is based on information provided by us and by other sources that we believe are
reliable. We cannot assure you that information included herein is accurate or complete. No representation or warranty,
express or implied, is made by the initial purchasers as to the accuracy or completeness of any information set forth in this
offering memorandum, and nothing contained in this offering memorandum is or shall be relied upon as a promise or
representation, whether as to the past or the future. This offering memorandum summarizes certain documents and other
information and we refer you to them for a more complete understanding of the discussions in this offering memorandum.
We will make copies of certain documents available to you upon request. In making an investment decision, you must rely
on your own examination of our company, the terms of the offering and the Notes, including the merits and risks involved.

By purchasing the Notes, you will be deemed to have made the acknowledgments, representations, warranties and
agreements described under the caption “Notice to Investors” in this offering memorandum. You should understand that
you may be required to bear the financial risks of your investment for an indefinite period of time.

We are not making any representation to any purchaser of the Notes regarding the legality of an investment in the
Notes by such purchaser under any legal investment or similar laws or regulations. You should not consider any
information in this offering memorandum to be legal, business or tax advice. You should consult your own attorney,
business advisor and tax advisor for legal, business and tax advice regarding an investment in the Notes.

We reserve the right to withdraw the offering of the Notes at any time and we and the initial purchasers reserve the
right to reject any commitment to subscribe for the Notes in whole or in part and to allot to any prospective purchaser less
than the full amount of the Notes sought by such purchaser. The initial purchasers and certain related entities may acquire
for their own account a portion of the Notes. Please see “Plan of Distribution.”

You must comply with all applicable laws and regulations in force in any applicable jurisdiction and you must
obtain any consent, approval or permission required by you for the purchase, offer or sale of the Notes under the laws and
regulations in force in the jurisdiction to which you are subject or in which you make such purchase, offer or sale, and
neither we nor the initial purchasers will have any responsibility therefor.

This offering memorandum is not an offer to sell, or a solicitation of an offer to buy, any Notes by any person in
any jurisdiction in which it is unlawful for such person to make such an offering or solicitation. No action has been, or will
be, taken to permit a public offering in any jurisdiction where action would be required for that purpose.

None of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), any state securities commission or any other
regulatory authority has approved or disapproved these securities nor have any of the foregoing authorities passed upon or
endorsed the merits of the Offering or the accuracy or adequacy of this offering memorandum. Any representation to the
contrary is a criminal offense.

We accept responsibility for the information contained in this offering memorandum. We have made all
reasonable inquiries and confirm to the best of our knowledge, information and belief that the information contained in this
offering memorandum with regard to us and our affiliates and the Notes is true and accurate in all material respects, that the
opinions and intentions expressed in this offering memorandum are honestly held and that we are not aware of any other
facts, the omission of which would make this offering memorandum or any statement contained herein misleading in any
material respect.

The information contained under the caption “Exchange Rate Information” includes extracts from information
and data publicly released by official and other sources. While we accept responsibility for accurately summarizing the
information concerning exchange rate information, we accept no further responsibility in respect of such information. The
information set out in relation to sections of this offering memorandum describing clearing and settlement arrangements,
including the section entitled “Book-Entry; Delivery and Form,” is subject to change in or reinterpretation of the rules,
regulations and procedures of Euroclear or Clearstream currently in effect. While we accept responsibility for accurately
summarizing the information concerning Euroclear and Clearstream, we accept no further responsibility in respect of such
information.
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The Notes are subject to restrictions on transferability and resale and may not be transferred or resold except as
permitted under the Securities Act and applicable securities laws of any other jurisdiction pursuant to registration or
exemption therefrom. Prospective purchasers should be aware that they may be required to bear the financial risks of this
investment for an indefinite period of time. See “Notice to Investors.”
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STABILIZATION

IN CONNECTION WITH THE OFFERING, J.P. MORGAN SECURITIES PLC, (THE “STABILIZING
MANAGER”) (OR PERSONS ACTING ON BEHALF OF THE STABILIZING MANAGER) MAY OVER-ALLOT
NOTES OR EFFECT TRANSACTIONS WITH A VIEW TO SUPPORTING THE MARKET PRICE OF THE NOTES
AT A LEVEL HIGHER THAN THAT WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL. HOWEVER, STABILIZATION
MAY NOT NECESSARILY OCCUR. ANY STABILIZATION ACTION MAY BEGIN ON OR AFTER THE DATE ON
WHICH ADEQUATE PUBLIC DISCLOSURE OF THE TERMS OF THE OFFER OF THE NOTES IS MADE AND, IF
BEGUN, MAY CEASE AT ANY TIME, BUT IT MUST END NO LATER THAN THE EARLIER OF 30 DAYS AFTER
THE ISSUE DATE OF THE NOTES AND 60 DAYS AFTER THE DATE OF THE ALLOTMENT OF THE NOTES.
ANY STABILIZATION ACTION OR OVER-ALLOTMENT MUST BE CONDUCTED BY THE STABILIZATION
MANAGER (OR PERSONS ACTING ON BEHALF OF THE STABILIZATION MANAGER) IN ACCORDANCE
WITH ALL APPLICABLE LAWS AND RULES.

NOTICE TO U.S. INVESTORS

Each purchaser of the Notes will be deemed to have made the representations, warranties and acknowledgments
that are described in this offering memorandum under the section titled “Notice to Investors.”

The Notes and the guarantees have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act or the securities
laws of any state of the United States and are subject to certain restrictions on transfer. Prospective purchasers are hereby
notified that the seller of any Note may be relying on the exemption from the provisions of Section 5 of the Securities Act
provided by Rule 144A thereunder. For a description of certain further restrictions on resale or transfer of the Notes, please
see “Notice to Investors.”

THE NOTES MAY NOT BE OFFERED TO THE PUBLIC WITHIN ANY JURISDICTION. BY ACCEPTING
DELIVERY OF THIS OFFERING MEMORANDUM, YOU AGREE NOT TO OFFER, SELL, RESELL, TRANSFER
OR DELIVER, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, ANY NOTES TO THE PUBLIC.

NOTICE TO EEA INVESTORS

This offering memorandum has been prepared on the basis that all offers of the Notes will be made pursuant to an
exemption under the Prospectus Directive (as defined below) from the requirement to produce a prospectus for offers of the
Notes. In relation to each member state (a “Member State”) of the European Economic Area (the “EEA”) which has
implemented the Prospectus Directive (each, a “Relevant Member State”), with effect from and including the date on which
the Prospectus Directive is implemented in that Relevant Member State no offer of Notes to the public in that Relevant
Member State may be made other than:

(a) to any legal entity which is a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus Directive;

(b) to fewer than 150 natural or legal persons (other than qualified investors as defined in the Prospectus
Directive), as permitted under the Prospectus Directive, subject to obtaining the prior consent of the
relevant dealer or dealers nominated by the Issuer for any such offer; or

() in any other circumstances falling within Article 3(2) of the Prospectus Directive;

provided that no such offer of the Notes referred to in clauses (a) to (c) above shall require the publication by the Issuer or
any dealer of a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive or a supplement to a prospectus pursuant to
Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive. Accordingly, any person making or intending to make any offer within the EEA of
the Notes should only do so in circumstances in which no obligation arises for the Issuer or any dealer to produce a
prospectus for such offer. Neither the Issuer nor any dealer has authorized, nor do they authorize, the making of any offer of
Notes through any financial intermediary, other than offers made by any dealer, which constitute the final placement of the
Notes contemplated in this offering memorandum.

For the purposes of this restriction, the expression an “offer of Notes to the public” in relation to any Notes in any
Relevant Member State means the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on the terms of
the offer and the Notes to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe for the Notes, as the same
may be varied in that Member State by any measure implementing the Prospectus Directive in that Member State, the
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expression “Prospectus Directive” means Directive 2003/71/EC (and amendments thereto, including the 2010 PD
Amending Directive, to the extent implemented in the Relevant Member State), and includes any relevant implementing
measure in the Relevant Member State and the expression “2010 PD Amending Directive” means Directive 2010/73/EU.

NOTICE TO GERMAN INVESTORS

The Offering is not a public offering in Germany. The Notes may only be offered, sold and acquired in accordance
with the provisions of the German Securities Prospectus Act (Wertpapierprospektgesetz) (the “Securities Prospectus Act”),
as amended, the Commission Regulation (EC) No. 809/2004 of April 29, 2004, as amended, and any other applicable
German law governing the issue, offering and sale of securities. No application will be made under German law to permit a
public offer of Notes in Germany. This offering memorandum has not been approved for purposes of a public offer of the
Notes under the Securities Prospectus Act or the Prospectus Directive (as defined above) and accordingly the Notes are not
being, and may not be, offered or advertised publicly or by public promotion in Germany. Therefore, this offering
memorandum is strictly for private use and the offer is only being made to recipients to whom the document is personally
addressed and does not constitute an offer or advertisement to the public. The Notes will only be available to and this
offering memorandum and any other offering material in relation to the Notes is directed only at persons who are qualified
investors (qualifizierte Anleger) within the meaning of Section 2 No. 6 of the Securities Prospectus Act. Any resale of the
Notes in Germany must be made in accordance with the Securities Prospectus Act and other applicable laws. The Issuer has
not filed, and does not intend to file, a securities prospectus with the German Federal Financial Supervisory Authority
(Bundesanstalt fiir Finanzdienstleistungsaufsicht) (“BaFin”) or obtain a notification to the BaFin from another competent
authority of a member state of the European Economic Area.

NOTICE TO U.K. INVESTORS

In the United Kingdom, this offering memorandum is being distributed only to and is directed only at: (a) persons
who are “investment professionals” falling within Article 19(5) of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (Financial
Promotion) Order 2005 (the “Order”), (b) high net worth companies, unincorporated associations and other bodies within
the categories described in Article 49(2)(a) to (d) of the Order and (c) any other persons to whom an invitation or
inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of Section 21 of the Financial Services and Markets Act
2000 (the “FSMA™)) in connection with the issue or sale of any Notes may otherwise lawfully be communicated or caused
to be communicated. Each initial purchaser: (a) has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only
communicate or cause to be communicated an invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the
meaning of Section 21 of the FSMA) received by it in connection with the issue or sale of any Notes in circumstances in
which Section 21(1) of the FSMA does not apply to the Issuer and (b) has complied and will comply with all applicable
provisions of the FSMA in respect of anything done by it in relation to any Notes in, from or otherwise involving the United
Kingdom.

NOTICE TO LUXEMBOURG INVESTORS

This offering memorandum has not been approved by and will not be submitted for approval to the Luxembourg
regulator of the financial sector (Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier) (the “CSSF”) or a competent authority
in another EU Member State for notification to the CSSF, for purposes of public offering or sale of securities in the Grand
Duchy of Luxembourg. Accordingly, the Notes may not be offered or sold to the public in Luxembourg directly or
indirectly, and neither this offering memorandum nor any other circular, prospectus, form of application, advertisement or
other material may be reproduced, distributed, or otherwise made available in or from, or published in Luxembourg, except
in circumstances which do not constitute a public offer of securities to the public, subject to prospectus requirements, in
accordance with the Luxembourg Act of July 10, 2005 on prospectuses for securities, as amended, nor provided to any
person other than the recipient thereof. The Notes are offered to a limited number of sophisticated investors in all cases
under circumstances designed to preclude a distribution, which would be other than a private placement. All public
solicitations are banned and the sale may not be publicly advertised.




NOTICE TO NORWEGIAN INVESTORS

This offering memorandum has not and will not be registered with the Financial Supervisory Authority of
Norway. Accordingly, the Notes shall not, directly or indirectly, be sold or offered to be sold in Norway or to Norwegian
tax-residents, except that the Notes may be offered:

(a) to “professional investors” as defined in Section 7-1 and Sections 10-2 to 10-5 of the Norwegian
Securities Regulation of June 29, 2007 No. 876;

(b) to fewer than 150 natural or legal persons (other than “professional investors™) as defined in Section 7-1
in the Norwegian Securities Regulation of June 29, 2007 No. 876, subject to obtaining the prior consent
of the relevant initial purchaser for any such offer; or

(©) in any other circumstances provided that no such offer of Notes shall result in a requirement for the
registration, or the publication by the Issuer or the initial purchasers, of a prospectus pursuant to the
Norwegian Securities Trading Act of June 29, 2007 No. 75.

NOTICE TO DANISH INVESTORS

This offering memorandum has not been filed with or approved by the Danish Financial Supervisory Authority or
any other authority in the Kingdom of Denmark. The Notes have not been offered or sold and may not be offered, sold or
delivered directly or indirectly in the Kingdom of Denmark, unless in compliance with the Danish Securities Trading Act
(Consolidated Act No. 1530 of 2 February 2015 on Trading of Securities etc., as amended from time to time) and any
Executive Orders issued thereunder and in compliance with Executive Order no. 623 of 24 April 2015 issued pursuant to
the Danish Financial Business Act (Consolidated Act No. 182 of 18 February 2015 on financial business, as amended from
time to time).

NOTICE TO DUTCH INVESTORS

The Notes are not, will not and may not be, directly or indirectly, offered or acquired in the Netherlands, and this
offering memorandum may not be circulated in the Netherlands, as part of an initial distribution or any time thereafter,
other than to individuals or legal entities who or which qualify as qualified investors (gekwalificeerde beleggers) within the
meaning of article 1:1 of the Financial Supervision Act (Wet op het financieel toezicht), as amended from time to time.

NOTICE TO SWEDISH INVESTORS

This offering memorandum is not a prospectus and has not been prepared in accordance with the prospectus
requirements provided for in the Swedish Financial Instruments Trading Act (Sw. lagen (1991:980) om handel med
finansiella instrument) nor any other Swedish enactment. Neither the Swedish Financial Supervisory Authority (Sw.
Finansinspektionen) nor any other Swedish public body has examined, approved or registered this offering memorandum
or will examine, approve or register this offering memorandum. Accordingly, this offering memorandum may not be made
available, nor may the Notes otherwise be marketed and offered for sale, in Sweden other than in circumstances that
constitute an exemption from the requirement to prepare a prospectus under the Swedish Financial Instruments Trading
Act.

NOTICE TO SWISS INVESTORS

The Notes may not be publicly offered, sold or advertised, directly or indirectly, in, into or from Switzerland and
will not be listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange Ltd. or any other exchange or regulated trading facility in Switzerland.
Neither this offering memorandum nor any other offering or marketing material relating to the Notes constitutes a
prospectus as such term is understood pursuant to article 652a or article 1156 of the Swiss Federal Code of Obligations or a
listing prospectus within the meaning of the listing rules of the SIX Swiss Exchange Ltd., and neither this offering
memorandum nor any other offering or marketing material relating to the Notes may be publicly distributed or otherwise
made publicly available in Switzerland.
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Neither this offering memorandum nor any other offering or marketing material relating to the Offering nor the
Issuer nor the Notes has been or will be filed with or approved by any Swiss regulatory authority. The Notes are not subject
to the supervision by any Swiss regulatory authority, e.g. the Swiss Financial Market Supervisory Authority FINMA
(“FINMA”), and investors in the Notes will not benefit from protection or supervision by such authority.

NOTICE TO ITALIAN INVESTORS

(a) This offering memorandum has not been prepared as part of a public offer in the Republic of Italy within
the meaning of Article 1, paragraph 1(t) of Legislative Decree No. 58 of February 24, 1998, as amended
(the “Consolidated Financial Act”) and as such has not been submitted to the Commissione Nazionale
per la Societa e la Borsa (“CONSOB”) (the Italian Securities Exchange Commission) for its prior
approval. Accordingly, the Notes may not, and will not, be offered, sold or delivered, nor may copies of
this offering memorandum or of any other document relating to the Notes be distributed, in the Republic
of Italy, except: to qualified investors (investitori qualificati) as defined in Article 26, paragraph 1, letter
d) of CONSOB Regulation No. 16190 of October 29, 2007, as amended (the “Intermediaries
Regulation”), pursuant to Article 100, paragraph 1, letter a) of the Consolidated Financial Act and
Article 34-ter, paragraph 1, letter b) of CONSOB Regulation No. 11971 of May 14, 1999, as amended
(the “Issuers Regulation”), provided that such qualified investors will act in their capacity and not as
depositaries or nominee for other persons; or

(b) in any other circumstances where an express exemption from compliance with the restrictions on offers
to the public applies, including, without limitation, as provided under Article 100 of the Consolidated
Financial Act and Article 34-ter of the Issuers Regulation.

Any offer, sale, resale, or delivery of the Notes or distribution of copies of this offering memorandum or any other
document relating to the Notes in the Republic of Italy under (a) or (b) above must be:

(a) made by an investment firm, bank or financial intermediary permitted to conduct such activities in the
Republic of Italy in accordance with the Consolidated Financial Act, Legislative Decree No. 385 of
September 1, 1993 (the “Banking Act”); and Regulation No. 16190 of October 29, 2007 (in each case, as
amended from time to time);

(b) in compliance with Article 129 of the Banking Act, as amended, and the implementing guidelines of the
Bank of Italy, as amended from time to time, pursuant to which the Bank of Italy may request
information on the issue or the offer of securities in the Republic of Italy; and

(c) in compliance with any other applicable laws and regulations or requirement imposed by CONSOB or
other Italian authority.

Pursuant to Art. 100 bis of the Consolidated Financial Act, any subsequent resale to the public of securities which
were previously offered in the context of an offer exempted from the obligation to publish a prospectus shall be regarded as
a separate offer to the public in Italy unless it is exempted from the rules on public offering Article 100 of the Consolidated
Financial Act and Article 34-ter of the Issuers Regulation.

NOTICE TO SPANISH INVESTORS

The Notes may not be sold, offered or distributed to persons in Spain, except in circumstances which do not
constitute a public offer (oferta publica) of securities in Spain, within the meaning of the Royal Legislative Decree 4/2015,
of October 23, approving the amended and restated text of the Spanish Securities Market Law (fexto refundido de la Ley del
Mercado de Valores aprobado por el Real Decreto Legislativo 4/2015, de 23 de octubre), as amended and restated, and
Royal Decree 1310/2005, of November 4, on the listing of securities, public offers and applicable prospectus (Real Decreto
131072005, de 4 de noviembre, por el que se desarrolla parcialmente la Ley 24/1988, de 28 de julio, del Mercado de
Valores en materia de admision a negociacion de valores en mercados secundarios oficiales, de ofertas publicas de venta
o suscripcion y del folleto exigible a tales efectos), as amended from time to time (the “Spanish Securities Market Law”).
Neither the Notes, this Offering nor this Offering Memorandum and its contents have been approved or registered with the
Spanish Securities and Exchange Commission (Comision Nacional del Mercado de Valores), and therefore it is not
intended for the public offering of Notes in Spain.
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NOTICE TO FRENCH INVESTORS

This offering memorandum has not been prepared in the context of a public offering of financial securities in
France within the meaning of Article L. 411-1 of the French Code monétaire et financier and Title I of Book II of the
Reglement Général of the Autorité des marchés financiers (the French financial markets authority (“AMF”)) and,
therefore, has not been approved by, or registered or filed with, the AMF and does not require a prospectus to be submitted
for approval to the AMF. Consequently, the Notes may not be, directly or indirectly, offered or sold to the public in France
(offire au public de titres financiers), and neither this offering memorandum nor any offering or marketing materials
relating to the Notes may be made available or distributed in any way that would constitute, directly or indirectly, an offer
to the public in France. The Notes may only be offered or sold in France pursuant to Article L. 411-2-II of the French Code
monétaire et financier to (i) providers of investment services relating to portfolio management for the account of third
parties (personnes fournissant le service d’investissement de gestion de portefeuille pour le compte de tiers), (ii) qualified
investors (investisseurs qualifiés) acting for their own account or (iii) a limited group of investors (cercle restreint
d’investisseurs) acting for their own account, all as defined in and in accordance with Articles L. 411-2,D.411-1,D.411-4,
D. 744-1, D. 754-1 and D. 764-1 of the French Code monétaire et financier. Prospective investors are informed that: (i) this
offering memorandum has not been and will not be submitted for clearance to the AMF; (ii) in compliance with Articles L.
411-2,D. 411-1, D. 411-4, D. 744-1, D. 754-1 and D. 764-1 of the French Code monétaire et financier, any investors
subscribing for the Notes should be acting for their own account; and (iii) the direct and indirect distribution or sale to the
public of the Notes acquired by them may only be made in compliance with applicable French laws and regulations, in
particular those relating to an offer to the public (offre au public de titres financiers) (which are embodied in Articles L.
411-1,L.411-2,L. 412-1 and L. 621-8 through L. 621-8-3 of the French Code monétaire et financier).

NOTICE TO IRISH INVESTORS

The Notes are not being offered or sold to any person in Ireland, or underwritten or placed except in conformity
with the provisions of: (i) the European Communities (Markets in Financial Instruments) Regulations 2007 (Nos. 1 to
3) (as amended) of Ireland, including, without limitation, Regulations 7 and 152 thereof and any applicable codes of
conduct used in connection therewith and the provisions of the Investor Compensation Act 1998 (as amended) of Ireland
(i1) the Companies Act 2014 (as amended) of Ireland, the Central Bank Acts 1942 to 2015 of Ireland (as amended) and any
codes of conduct rules made under Section 117(1) of the Central Bank Act 1989 (as amended) of Ireland, (iii) the
Prospectus (Directive 2003/71/EC) Regulations 2005 (as amended) of Ireland and any rules issued under Section 1363 of
the Companies Act 2014 (as amended) of Ireland by the Central Bank of Ireland and (iv) the provisions of the Market
Abuse Regulation (EU596/2014) (as amended) and any rules issued by the Central Bank of Ireland under Section 1370 of
the Companies Act 2014 (as amended) of Ireland. This offering memorandum does not constitute a prospectus for the
purposes of the Irish Prospectus Regulations and has not been approved by the Central Bank of Ireland.

NOTICE TO BELGIAN INVESTORS

No action has been taken or will be taken in Belgium to permit a public offer of the Notes in accordance with the
Belgian Act of 16 June 2006 on the public offer of securities and admission of securities to trading on a regulated market
(i.e. the Belgian Prospectus Act) and no Notes may be offered or sold to persons in Belgium unless either such persons are
qualified investors within the meaning of Article 10 of the Belgian Prospectus Act or one or more other exemptions
available under Article 3 of the Belgian Prospectus Act apply. The Offering, and any materials relating to the Offering, may
not be advertised, the Notes may not be offered or sold, and none of this offering memorandum or any other information
circular, brochure or similar document may be distributed, directly or indirectly, to any person qualifying as a consumer
within the meaning of Book VI of the Belgian Economic Law Code (the “Economic Law Code”) on market practices and
consumer protection, unless such sale is made in compliance with the Economic Law Code and its implementing
regulation.

NOTICE TO CANADIAN INVESTORS

The Notes may only be offered or sold in the provinces of British Columbia, Alberta, Saskatchewan, Ontario,
Québec, New Brunswick, Nova Scotia and Prince Edward Island to or for the benefit of a resident of these provinces
pursuant to an exemption from the requirement to file a prospectus in such province in which such offer or sale is made, and
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only by a registrant duly registered under the applicable securities laws of that province or by a registrant that is relying in
that province on the “international dealer” exemption provided by section 8.18 of National Instrument 31-103 Registration
Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations (“NI 31-103”). Furthermore, the Notes may only be
offered or sold to residents of any such province that are purchasing, or deemed to be purchasing, as principal, that are
“accredited investors” as defined in National Instrument 45-106 Prospectus Exemptions (“NI 45-106”") or

subsection 73.3(1) of the Securities Act (Ontario), and that are “permitted clients” as defined in NI 31-103. Each Canadian
purchaser hereby acknowledges that any resale of the Notes must be made in accordance with an exemption from, or in a
transaction not subject to, the prospectus requirements of applicable securities laws and that it shall be deemed to represent
and warrant it is an accredited investor and is purchasing as principal (or deemed principal) in connection with any
purchase of Notes hereunder.

Securities legislation in certain provinces or territories of Canada may provide a purchaser with remedies for
rescission or damages if this offering memorandum (including any amendment thereto) contains a misrepresentation,
provided that the remedies for rescission or damages are exercised by the purchaser within the time limit prescribed by the
securities legislation of the purchaser’s province or territory. The purchaser should refer to any applicable provisions of the
securities legislation of the purchaser’s province of residence for particulars of these rights or consult with a legal advisor.

Pursuant to section 3A.3 of NI 33-105, the underwriters are not required to comply with the disclosure
requirements of NI 33-105 regarding underwriter conflicts of interest in connection with this offering.

We and the underwriters hereby notify prospective Canadian purchasers that: (a) we may be required to provide
personal information pertaining to the purchaser as required to be disclosed in Schedule I of Form 45-106F1 under
NI 45-106 (including its name, address, telephone number, email and the aggregate purchase price of any Notes purchased)
(“personal information”), which Form 45-106F1 may be required to be filed by us under NI 45-106, (b) such personal
information may be delivered to the Ontario Securities Commission (the “OSC”), in accordance with NI 45-106, (c) such
personal information is collected indirectly by the OSC under the authority granted to it under the securities legislation of
Ontario, (d) such personal information is collected for the purposes of the administration and enforcement of the securities
legislation of Ontario, and (e) the public official in Ontario who can answer questions about the OSC’s indirect collection
of such personal information is the Administrative Support Clerk at the OSC, Suite 1903, Box 55, 20 Queen Street West,
Toronto, Ontario MSH3S8, Telephone: (416) 593-3684. Prospective Canadian purchasers that purchase Notes in this
offering will be deemed to have authorized the indirect collection of the personal information by the OSC, and to have
acknowledged and consented to its name, address, telephone number, email rand other specified information, including the
aggregate purchase price paid by the purchaser, being disclosed to other Canadian securities regulatory authorities, and to
have acknowledged that such information may become available to the public in accordance with requirements of
applicable Canadian laws.

Upon receipt of this document, each Canadian purchaser hereby confirms that it has expressly requested that all
documents evidencing or relating in any way to the sale of the securities described herein (including for greater certainty
any purchase confirmation or any notice) be drawn up in the English language only. Par la réception de ce document,
chaque acheteur canadien confirme par les présentes qu’il a expressément exigé que tous les documents faisant foi ou se
rapportant de quelque maniére que ce soit a la vente des valeurs mobilieres décrites aux présentes (incluant, pour plus de
certitude, toute confirmation d’achat ou tout avis) soient rédigés en anglais seulement.
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PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL AND NON-IFRS INFORMATION
Financial Information

The audited consolidated financial statements of INEOS Group Holdings S.A. included elsewhere in this offering
memorandum as of and for each of the years ended December 31, 2016, December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014 have
been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers, Société coopérative. The audited consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with IFRS (as defined herein). The unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements
of INEOS Group Holdings S.A. included elsewhere in this offering memorandum as of June 30, 2017 and for the six month
period ended June 30, 2017 including unaudited comparative financial information for the six month period ended June 30,
2016 have been prepared in accordance with IAS 34, the standard of IFRS applicable to interim financial statements (as
defined herein). For a complete description of the accounting principles applied in preparing INEOS Group
Holdings S.A.’s audited consolidated financial statements and unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial
statements, please see, respectively, note 1 “Accounting Policies” to the audited consolidated financial statements and
note 2 “Principal Accounting Policies” to the unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements of INEOS
Group Holdings S.A., each of which is included elsewhere in this offering memorandum.

The audited financial statements of INEOS Finance plc included elsewhere in this offering memorandum as of
and for each of the years ended December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers
LLP. The audited financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS (as defined herein). For a complete
description of the accounting principles applied in preparing INEOS Finance plc’s audited financial statements, please see
note 1 “Accounting policies” to the audited financial statements of INEOS Finance plc included elsewhere in this offering
memorandum.

The unaudited financial information for the twelve months ended June 30, 2017 has been prepared by subtracting
the unaudited financial information of INEOS Group Holdings S.A. for the six month period ended June 30, 2016 extracted
from the unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements of INEOS Group Holdings S.A. as of June 30,
2017 and for the six month period ended June 30, 2017 including unaudited comparative financial information for the six
month period ended June 30, 2016 from the corresponding financial information of INEOS Group Holdings S.A. for the
year ended December 31, 2016 extracted from the audited consolidated financial statements of INEOS Group
Holdings S.A. as of and for the year ended December 31, 2016, and then adding the corresponding unaudited financial
information of INEOS Group Holdings S.A. for the six month period ended June 30, 2017 extracted from the unaudited
condensed consolidated interim financial statements of INEOS Group Holdings S.A. as of June 30, 2017 and for the six
month period ended June 30, 2017.

The unaudited financial information for the twelve months ended June 30, 2017 have not been prepared in
accordance with the requirements of Regulation S-X of the Securities Act, the Prospectus Directive or any generally
accepted accounting standards. Such financial data has not been audited or reviewed in accordance with any generally
accepted auditing or review standards. INEOS Group Holdings S.A.’s unaudited financial information for the twelve
months ended June 30, 2017 has been prepared for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily indicative of our results
of operations for any future period and is not prepared in the ordinary course of our financial reporting.

This offering memorandum also includes certain unaudited consolidated financial information that has been
adjusted to give pro forma effect to the Transactions as if the Transactions had taken place, with respect to unaudited pro
forma net debt, on June 30, 2017, and, with respect to unaudited pro forma cash interest expense, on July 1, 2016. The
unaudited consolidated pro forma financial information has been prepared for illustrative purposes only and does not
purport to represent what the actual consolidated financial position would have been if the Transactions had occurred on
June 30, 2017, with respect to unaudited pro forma net debt, or July 1, 2016, with respect to unaudited pro forma cash
interest expense, nor does it purport to project our consolidated financial position or performance at any future date. The
unaudited pro forma financial information set forth in this offering memorandum is based on available information and
certain assumptions and estimates that we believe are reasonable but may differ from the actual amounts.

Use of Non-IFRS Financial Measures

We have presented certain information in this offering memorandum based on non-IFRS measures. As used in this
offering memorandum, this information includes “EBITDA before exceptionals.”

EBITDA before exceptionals represents operating profit before depreciation, amortization, impairment and
exceptional charges. In accordance with IFRS, we use both the first in first out (“FIFO”) and weighted average cost
methods of accounting for purposes of determining our inventory cost in connection with the preparation of our annual and
interim consolidated financial statements. EBITDA before exceptionals is based on the FIFO and weighted average cost
methods of accounting for inventory used in connection with the preparation of such financial statements. EBITDA before
exceptionals is derived from income statement line items calculated in accordance with IFRS on a historical cost basis.
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EBITDA before exceptionals is not a measure of financial performance under IFRS. EBITDA-based measures are
non-IFRS measures. We believe that the presentation of EBITDA-based measures enhances an investor’s understanding of
our financial performance. However, EBITDA-based measures should not be considered in isolation or viewed as a
substitute for operating profit, profit, cash flows from operating activities or other measures of performance as defined by
IFRS. These EBITDA-based measures, as used herein, are not necessarily comparable to other similarly titled captions of
other companies due to potential inconsistencies in the method of calculation. Our management has used, and expects to
use, EBITDA-based measures to assess operating performance and to make decisions about allocating resources among
our various segments. In assessing our overall performance and the performance of each of our segments, management
reviews EBITDA-based measures as a general indicator of performance compared to prior periods. Furthermore,
management and employee bonuses can be linked to the EBITDA-based performance of the business and the region in
which they work. Our EBITDA-based measures exclude items that management does not consider in assessing operating
performance. Our management believes it is useful to eliminate such items because it allows management to focus on what
it considers to be a more meaningful indicator of operating performance and ability to generate cash flow from operations.

EBITDA before exceptionals differs from Consolidated EBITDA, as presented in the “Description of the Notes”,
which includes certain cost savings as defined in the definition therein.

The information presented by EBITDA before exceptionals is unaudited and has not been prepared in accordance
with IFRS or any other accounting standards. In addition, the presentation of this measure is not intended to and does not
comply with the reporting requirements of the SEC; compliance with its requirements would require us to make changes to
the presentation of this information.

Presentation

Rounding adjustments have been made in calculating some of the financial information included in this offering
memorandum. Figures shown as totals in some tables and elsewhere may not be exact arithmetic aggregations of the figures
that precede them.

In this offering memorandum, unless otherwise indicated: all references to the “EU” are to the European Union;
all references to “euro” or “€ ” are to the lawful currency of the European Union; all references to the “U.K.” are to the
United Kingdom; all references to “pounds sterling,” “sterling,” “Sterling,” “British pounds” or “£” are to the lawful
currency of the United Kingdom; all references to the “United States” or the “U.S.” are to the United States of America; and
all references to “U.S.$,” “U.S. dollars,” “dollars” or “$” are to the lawful currency of the United States.
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CERTAIN DEFINITIONS

Unless indicated otherwise in this offering memorandum or the context requires otherwise:

all references to the “2016 IGH Notes” are to the € 1,750,000,000 aggregate principal amount of 7"/s%
Senior Notes due 2016 and $750,000,000 aggregate principal amount of 8'/,% Senior Notes due 2016 issued
pursuant to an indenture dated February 7, 2006, which were redeemed in full on February 19, 2014;

all references to the “2018 IGH Notes” are to the € 500,000,000 aggregate principal amount of 6'/,% Senior
Notes due 2018 and $678,000,000 aggregate principal amount of 6'/s% Senior Notes due 2018 issued
pursuant to an indenture dated May 14, 2013, which were redeemed in full on August 9, 2016;

all references to the “2019 IGH Notes” are to the € 600,000,000 aggregate principal amount of 5°/,% Senior
Notes due 2019 and $590,000,000 aggregate principal amount of 5'/s% Senior Notes due 2019 issued
pursuant to an indenture dated February 18, 2014, which were redeemed in full on March 1, 2017;

all references to the “2024 IGH Notes” are to the $500,000,000 aggregate principal amount of 5°/5% Senior
Notes due 2024 and €650,000,000 aggregate principal amount of 5°/s% Senior Notes due 2024 issued
pursuant to the 2024 IGH Notes Indenture;

all references to the “2024 IGH Notes Indenture” are to the indenture dated August 9, 2016, between IGH,
as issuer, the guarantors named therein, The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch, as trustee, collateral
agent and principal paying agent, The Bank of New York Mellon (Luxembourg) S.A., as Luxembourg paying
agent, registrar and Luxembourg transfer agent, and The Bank of New York Mellon as U.S. paying agent and
transfer agent, as amended and supplemented from time to time, pursuant to which the 2024 IGH Notes were
issued;

all references to the “2024 IGH Notes Proceeds Loans” are to the loans advanced under the loan agreement,
dated August 9, 2016, between IGH, as lender, and IHL, as borrower, pursuant to which the gross proceeds of
the 2024 IGH Notes issuance were advanced to IHL, as amended or partially repaid from time to time;

all references to the “2019 Senior Secured Notes” are to the €500,000,000 aggregate principal amount of
Floating Rate Notes due 2019 and $1,000,000,000 aggregate principal amount of 8°/5% Senior Secured Notes
due 2019 issued pursuant to an indenture dated February 10, 2012, which were redeemed in full on April 7,
2015;

all references to the “2020 Senior Secured Notes” are to the $775,000,000 aggregate principal amount 7%
Senior Secured Notes due 2020 issued pursuant to an indenture dated May 4, 2012, which were redeemed in
full on May 6, 2015;

all references to the “2023 Senior Secured Notes” are to the €770,000,000 aggregate principal amount 4%
Senior Secured Notes due 2023 issued pursuant to the 2023 Senior Secured Notes Indenture;

all references to the “2023 Senior Secured Notes Indenture” are to the indenture dated May 5, 2015, among
INEOS Finance plc, as issuer, the guarantors named therein, The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch,
as trustee, the Bank of New York Mellon (Luxembourg) S.A., as registrar, paying agent and Luxembourg
transfer agent and Barclays Bank PLC, as security trustee, as amended and supplemented from time to time,
pursuant to which the 2023 Senior Secured Notes were issued;

all references to the “2023 Senior Secured Notes Proceeds Loan” are to the loan advanced under the loan
agreement, dated May 5, 2015, between INEOS Finance plc, as lender, and IHL, as borrower, pursuant to
which the gross proceeds of the 2023 Senior Secured Notes issuance were advanced to IHL, as amended or
partially repaid from time to time;

all references to “BP” are to BP p.l.c. and its consolidated subsidiaries;

all references to the “Collateral” have the meaning ascribed to the term under the caption “Description of the
Collateral and the Guarantees”;

all references to the “Credit Support Deed” have the meaning ascribed to the term under the caption
“Business—Agreements with BP—Related Agreements”;
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all references to the “Entrepreneurial (Refining) Business” are to the entrepreneurial activities related to
the Refining Business, which includes the sales and distribution of refining products through an entrepreneur
business model;

all references to the “Entrepreneurial (Refining) Business JV” are to the joint venture that, following the
Refining Divestiture, operates the Entrepreneurial (Refining) Business and is owned by PetroChina (50.1%)
and INEOS Investments (49.9%);

all references to the “Existing Indentures” are to the 2023 Senior Secured Notes Indenture and the 2024 IGH
Notes Indenture, together;

all references to the “Existing Notes” are to the 2023 Senior Secured Notes and the 2024 IGH Notes,
collectively;

all references to the “Existing Notes Trustees” are to The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch in its
capacity as trustee under each of the Existing Indentures;

all references to the “Grangemouth Divestiture” are to the disposals to INEOS Grangemouth plc (formerly
INEOS Grangemouth Limited) (a subsidiary of INEOS Holdings AG) of the shares of INEOS Commercial
Services UK Limited and INEOS Chemicals Grangemouth Limited (including the assets and liabilities
relating to the petrochemical operations carried out by such entities at or in connection with the Grangemouth
site) effective October 1, 2013;

all references to the “Guarantors” have the meaning ascribed to the term under the caption “Description of
the Collateral and the Guarantees”;

all references to “IAS 34” are to International Accounting Standard 34—Interim Financial Reporting;

all references to “IFRS” are to the International Financial Reporting Standard as adopted by the European
Union;

all references to “IGH” or the “Parent” are to INEOS Group Holdings S.A. and not to any of its subsidiaries;

all references to “IHL” are to INEOS Holdings Limited, the direct parent company of the Issuer and an
indirect wholly owned subsidiary of INEOS Group Holdings S.A.;

all references to the “IHL Pledged Shares” are to 100% of the capital stock of [HL;
all references to the “Indenture” are to the indenture governing the Notes;

all references to “INEOS AG” are to INEOS AG, a subsidiary of INEOS Limited, one of our ultimate parent
undertakings;

all references to “INEOS Capital” are to INEOS Capital Limited;

all references to “INEOS Group,” “INEOS,” “Group,” “we,” “us” or “our” are to INEOS Group
Holdings S.A. and its consolidated subsidiaries;

all references to “INEOS Investments” are to INEOS Investments (Jersey) Limited, an entity that is
controlled by the principal shareholders of IGH, is not a member of the INEOS Group (but in which the
INEOS Group holds certain ordinary shares and is and will be consolidated into our financial statements for
so long as we retain the majority of the economic benefits of the entity) and, as a result of the Refining
Divestiture, owns a 50.1% interest in the Refining Business JV, a 49.9% interest in the Entrepreneurial
(Refining) Business JV, a 50.0% direct interest in the Infrastructure Entity and a 25.05% indirect interest in
the Infrastructure Entity by virtue of its 50.1% stake in the Refining Business JV;

all references to “INEOS Limited” are to INEOS Limited, one of our ultimate parent undertakings;

all references to “INEOS Nova JV” are to the joint venture partnerships in Europe and North America with
Nova Chemicals;
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all references to the “Infrastructure Entity” are to INEOS Infrastructure (Grangemouth) Limited, an entity
that acquired certain infrastructure assets at Grangemouth, Scotland (principally a power station in
Grangemouth, Scotland, and a terminal and other facilities), and which, following the Refining Divestiture, is
jointly owned by INEOS Investments (50.0%) and the Refining Business JV (50.0%);

all references to the “initial purchasers” are to J.P. Morgan Securities plc, Barclays Bank PLC, Citigroup
Global Markets Limited, Bank of Montreal, London Branch, Credit Suisse Securities (Europe) Limited,
Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch, ING Bank N.V., London Branch and Lloyds Bank plc;

all references to “Innovene” and the “Innovene business” refer to (a) all of BP’s petrochemical operating
units for olefins, polymers and other derivatives but excluding BP’s Pasadena LAO operations, the
Gelsenkirchen naphtha cracking operations and the Munchmunster olefins operation (“O&D”), (b) two
integrated refinery plants in Grangemouth, United Kingdom and Lavéra, France, (c) a gas fractionator located
in Hobbs, New Mexico and certain related pipelines and (d) existing O&D strategic joint venture investments
other than BP’s joint ventures with SECCO and in Malaysia, prior to giving effect to the Innovene
Acquisition;

all references to the “Innovene Acquisition” are to the purchase by the INEOS Group on December 16, 2005
of all of the shares and assets comprising the Innovene business pursuant to the Innovene Acquisition
Agreement;

all references to the “Innovene Acquisition Agreement” are to the Share Sale and Purchase Agreement
dated October 7, 2005, as amended from time to time, among certain subsidiaries of BP, IHL, certain
subsidiaries of IHL and INEOS Group Limited;

all references to “INOVYN” are to INOVYN Limited, an affiliate of ours that is indirectly controlled by our
controlling shareholders, and its consolidated subsidiaries;

all references to the “Intercreditor Deed” are to the intercreditor deed dated May 12, 2010, as amended and
restated on December 23, 2010, as amended on February 18, 2011, February 6, 2012, as amended and
restated on and May 4, 2012, as amended and restated on May 8, 2013, as amended and restated on July 8,
2014 and as amended on May 5, 2015 and January 5, 2017 and as subsequently amended, supplemented,
varied or restated from time to time, among, inter alios, the Issuer, the guarantors acceded thereto, the facility
agent under the Senior Secured Term Loans Agreement, Barclays Bank plc, as security trustee and the
Existing Notes Trustees, and to which the Trustee acceded on the Issue Date;

all references to the “Issue Date” are to the date on which the Notes offered hereby were issued;

all references to the “LC Facility” are to the on-demand letter of credit facility entered into by INEOS
Treasury (UK) Limited on May 4, 2012 as may be amended, supplemented, varied or restated from time to
time as further described under the caption “Description of Other Indebtedness—Letter of Credit Facility”;

all references to “Lux I are to INEOS Luxembourg I S.A., which is a direct subsidiary of IGH;

all references to the “New Term Loans due 2024 have the meaning ascribed to the term under the caption
“Description of Other Indebtedness—Senior Secured Term Loans—Overview”;

all references to the “Noretyl Facility” are to the obligations under a €140 million loan facility assumed by
the Group on July 1, 2015;

all references to the “Notes Proceeds Loan” are to the loan under the loan agreement entered into between
the Issuer, as lender, and IHL, as borrower, pursuant to which the Issuer advanced the gross proceeds of the
Notes to IHL;

all references to the “Offering” are to the offering of the Notes hereby and the use of proceeds received
therefrom as further described under the caption “Use of Proceeds”;

all references to the “Original Term Loans due 2022 are to credit facilities due 2022 made available under

the Senior Secured Term Loans Agreement, which were converted into new Term Loans due 2022, and which
were refinanced on the Issue Date into New Term Loans due 2024,
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all references to “PetroChina” are to PetroChina International (London) Company Limited or one or more of
its affiliates, as the context may require;

all references to the “Refining and Entrepreneurial JVs” are to the Refining Business JV and the
Entrepreneurial (Refining) Business JV, collectively;

all references to the “Refining Business” are to the refining business, consisting principally of the crude oil
refining operations carried out at the refineries located at Grangemouth, Scotland, and Lavéra, France, as
reported on the historical financial statements of IGH under the Refining segment;

all references to the “Refining Business JV” are to the joint venture that, following the Refining Divestiture,
operates the Refining Business and is owned by PetroChina (49.9%) and INEOS Investments (50.1%);

all references to the “Refining Divestiture” are to the disposal on July 1, 2011, by subsidiaries of Lux I of
(1) the Refining Business and the Entrepreneurial (Refining) Business to joint ventures formed between
PetroChina and INEOS Investments and (ii) the Infrastructure Entity to a joint venture formed by INEOS
Investments (50.0%) and the Refining Business JV (50.0%);

all references to the “Securitization Program” are to the securitization program as further described under
the caption “Description of Other Indebtedness—Securitization Program”;

all references to the “Senior Secured Note Documents” have the meaning ascribed to the term in the
Intercreditor Agreement, including but not limited to the 2023 Senior Secured Notes Indenture and the
Indenture;

all references to the “Senior Secured Term Loans” are to the credit facilities which have been made
available under the Senior Secured Term Loans Agreement at the date of this offering memorandum, as
further described under the caption “Description of Other Indebtedness—Senior Secured Term Loans”;

all references to the “Senior Secured Term Loans Agreement” are to the credit agreement dated as of
April 27, 2012, among, inter alios, INEOS Finance plc and INEOS US Finance LLC, as borrowers, certain
subsidiaries of IGH, Barclays Bank PLC and certain lenders, as subsequently amended, supplemented,
varied, novated, extended or replaced from time to time under one or more credit facilities;

all references to the “Senior Secured Term Loans Eurobond” are to the eurobond entered into by IHL, as
issuer, and INEOS US Finance LLC, as subscriber, pursuant to which INEOS US Finance LLC subscribed
for bonds to the value of the gross proceeds of its borrowings under the Senior Secured Term Loans
Agreement;

all references to the “Senior Secured Term Loans Euro Proceeds Loans” are to the loans under the loan
agreements entered into by INEOS Finance plc, as lender, and THL, as borrower, pursuant to which INEOS
Finance plc advanced the gross proceeds of its borrowings under the Senior Secured Term Loans Agreement;

all references to the “Senior Secured Term Loans Proceeds Loans” are to the Senior Secured Term Loans
Euro Proceeds Loans and to the Senior Secured Term Loans Eurobond;

all references to “Styrolution” are to INEOS Styrolution Group GmbH or INEOS Styrolution Holding
Limited, subsidiaries of INEOS Industries Limited through its wholly owned subsidiary, INEOS Industries
Holdings Limited;

all references to “subsidiaries” are to all, whether operating or non-operating, the direct and indirect
subsidiaries of IGH in the Group;

all references to the “Swiss Reorganization” are to the corporate reorganization whereby on January 31,
2011, as part of a new holding company structure for the INEOS Group, several new Luxembourg, Swiss and
UK subsidiaries were integrated into the INEOS Group structure above INEOS Holdings Limited and INEOS
Group Holdings plc (now INEOS Group Holdings Limited), but below INEOS Group Holdings S.A.;

all references to the “Term Loans due 2018” are to credit facilities due 2018 made available under the Senior
Secured Term Loans Agreement that have been repaid in full;
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« allreferences to the “Term Loans due 2020 are to credit facilities due 2020 made available under the Senior
Secured Term Loans Agreement that have been extended to March 2022 and converted into Term Loans due
2022, which have been repaid in full;

e all references to the “Term Loans due 2022 are to credit facilities due 2022 made available under the Senior

Secured Term Loans Agreement, including the Original Term Loans due 2022 and the Terms Loans due 2020
which were converted into such facilities;

» all references to the “Term Loans due 2024 have the meaning ascribed to the term under the caption
“Description of Other Indebtedness—Senior Secured Term Loans—Overview”, which were refinanced on

the Issue Date into New Term Loans 2024;

«  all references to the “Transactions” have the meaning ascribed to the term under the caption “The
Transactions”;

o all references to the “Trustee” are to The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch in its capacity as trustee
under the Indenture;

* all references to “U.K. Borrower” are to INEOS Finance plc; and

» all references to “U.S. Borrower” are to INEOS US Finance LLC.

Unless otherwise stated, references to capacities of INEOS’s facilities refer to the “nameplate capacities,”
or theoretical maximum production capacity of such facilities; the effective capacity of such facilities may, however,
in fact be more or less than the nameplate capacity due to the current operating conditions and asset configuration
of each facility.

All references to “tonnes” are to metric tonnes.

We have provided definitions for some of the industry terms used in this offering memorandum in the “Glossary
of Selected Terms” beginning on page G-1 of this offering memorandum.
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EXCHANGE RATE INFORMATION

The following table sets forth, for the periods set forth below, the high, low, average and period end Bloomberg
Composite Rate (New York) expressed as U.S. dollars per €1.00. The Bloomberg Composite Rate is a “best market”
calculation, in which, at any point in time, the bid rate is equal to the highest bid rate of all contributing bank indications
and the ask rate is set to the lowest ask rate offered by these banks. The Bloomberg Composite Rate is a mid-value rate
between the applied highest bid rate and the lowest ask rate. Neither we nor the initial purchasers represent that the U.S.
dollar amounts referred to below could be or could have been converted into euro at any particular rate indicated or any
other rate.

U.S. dollars per €1.00

Year High Low Average” Period end

2002 1.3458 1.2061 1.2909 1.3192
2003 e 1.3803 1.2780 1.3300 1.3743
2004 1.3932 1.2098 1.3207 1.2098
2005 1.2002 1.0497 1.1031 1.0856
2016 1.1532 1.0389 1.1035 1.0520
2017 (through November 14, 2017) .....ovvvvveeennnn. 1.2036 1.0406 1.1226 1.1798
Month High Low Average® Period end

January 2017 ..oooooiiiee 1.0797 1.0406 1.0640 1.0797
February 2017 ....cocvoviiiiiieieeeee e 1.0785 1.0537 1.0641 1.0576
March 2017 c.cooviniieieiceeeeeeeeee e 1.0865 1.0507 1.0687 1.0653
ADPTIL 2017 o 1.0925 1.0590 1.0717 1.0897
May 2017 oo 1.1244 1.0861 1.1057 1.1244
June 2017 coooiiiii e 1.1440 1.1134 1.1238 1.1426
JUuly 2017 e 1.1842 1.1346 1.1532 1.1842
AUGUSt 2017 oo 1.1979 1.1723 1.1818 1.1910
September 2017.....c.cooieiiiiiiiiieieeeeeeeene 1.2036 1.1745 1.1906 1.1814
OcCtober 2017 ..o 1.1859 1.1608 1.1755 1.1646
November 2017 (through November 14, 2017) .... 1.1798 1.1587 1.1645 1.1798

(1) The average of the Bloomberg Composite Rates on the last business day of each month during the relevant period.
2) The average of the exchange rates on each business day during the relevant period.

The Bloomberg Composite Rate of the euro on November 14, 2017, was U.S. $1.1798 per €1.00.

The above rates may differ from the actual rates used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements
and other financial information appearing in this offering memorandum. Our inclusion of these exchange rates is not meant
to suggest that the euro amounts actually represent such dollar amounts or that such amounts could have been converted
into dollars at any particular rate, if at all. For a discussion of the impact of the exchange rate fluctuations on our financial
condition and results of operations, see “Operating and Financial Review and Prospects.”

Xvii



FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This offering memorandum includes “forward-looking statements,” within the meaning of the U.S. securities laws
and certain other jurisdictions, based on our current expectations and projections about future events, including:

» the cyclical and highly competitive nature of our businesses;

*  our significant debt service obligations, as well as our ability to generate sufficient cash flow to service our
debt;

*  risks associated with our structure, the Offering and our other indebtedness;

*  our sales growth across our principal businesses and our strategy for controlling costs, growing margins,
increasing manufacturing capacity and production levels, and making capital expenditures;

*  our ability to deleverage through strategic disposals of certain assets and non-core businesses;
e raw material costs or supply arrangements;

*  our technological and manufacturing assets and our ability to utilize them to further increase sales and the
profitability of our businesses;

« impacts of climate change, including regulatory requirements on greenhouse gas emissions, the costs to
purchase emissions allowances and the physical risks to our facilities of severe weather conditions;

»  current or future health, safety and environmental requirements and the related costs of maintaining
compliance with, and addressing liabilities under, those requirements;

*  operational hazards, including the risk of accidents that result in injury to persons and environmental
contamination;

*  our ability to retain existing customers and obtain new customers;
*  our ability to develop new products and technologies successfully;

*  our ability to successfully integrate acquired businesses with our historical business and realize anticipated
synergies and cost savings, including with respect to businesses acquired;

*  currency fluctuations;

*  our ability to attract and retain members of management and key employees;
*  our relationship with our shareholders, affiliates and joint ventures;

»  general economic, social or political conditions; and

e our estimates of our results for the quarter ended September 30, 2017.

All statements other than statements of historical facts included in this offering memorandum, including, without
limitation, statements regarding our future financial position, risks and uncertainties related to our business, strategy,
capital expenditures, projected costs and our plans and objectives for future operations, may be deemed to be
forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties, including
those identified under the “Risk Factors” section in this offering memorandum. Words such as “believe,” “expect,”
“anticipate,” “may,” “assume,” “plan,” “intend,” “will,” “should,” “estimate,” “risk” and similar expressions or the
negatives of these expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. In addition, from time to time we or our
representatives, acting in respect of information provided by us, have made or may make forward-looking statements orally
or in writing and these forward-looking statements may be included in but are not limited to press releases (including on our
website), reports to our security holders and other communications. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in
such forward-looking statements are reasonable, we can give no assurance that such expectations will prove to be correct.
Any forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date on which it is made and we undertake no obligation to publicly
update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. All
subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to us or to persons acting on our behalf are expressly
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qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements referred to above and contained elsewhere in this offering
memorandum, including those set forth under the section entitled “Risk Factors.”

The risks described in the “Risk Factors” section in this offering memorandum are not exhaustive. Other sections
of this offering memorandum describe additional factors that could adversely affect our business, financial condition or
results of operations. Moreover, we operate in a very competitive and rapidly changing environment. New risk factors
emerge from time to time and it is not possible for us to predict all such risk factors, nor can we assess the impact of all such
risk factors on our business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ
materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements. Given these risks and uncertainties, you should not
place undue reliance on forward-looking statements as a prediction of actual results.
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TAX CONSIDERATIONS

Prospective purchasers of the Notes are advised to consult their own tax advisors as to the consequences of
purchasing, holding and disposing of the Notes, including, without limitation, the application of U.S. Federal tax laws to
their particular situations, as well as any consequences to them under the laws of any other taxing jurisdiction, and the
consequences of purchasing the Notes at a price other than the initial issue price in the Offering. See “Certain Tax
Considerations.”

TRADEMARKS AND TRADE NAMES

We own or have rights to certain trademarks or trade names that we use in conjunction with the operation of our
businesses. Each trademark, trade name or service mark of any other company appearing in this offering memorandum is
the property of its respective holder.

HISTORICAL AND CURRENT MARKET AND INDUSTRY DATA

Historical and current market data used throughout this offering memorandum were obtained from internal
company analyses, consultants’ reports and industry publications. In particular, information has been provided by Nexant
Limited (“Nexant”), an industry consultant. Industry surveys and publications generally state that the information
contained therein has been obtained from sources believed to be reliable, but the accuracy and completeness of information
contained therein is not guaranteed. While we accept responsibility for the accurate extraction and reproduction of this
market data, we have not independently verified such data and cannot guarantee its accuracy or completeness. In addition,
certain statements in this offering memorandum regarding the petrochemical industry, our position in that industry and our
market share are based on internal company estimates, our experience and investigations of market conditions and our
review of industry positions. We cannot assure you that any of the assumptions underlying those statements are accurate or
correctly reflect our position in the industries. Similarly, internal company analyses, while believed by us to be reliable,
have not been verified by any independent sources, and neither we nor any of the initial purchasers make any representation
as to the accuracy of such information. While we are not aware of any misstatements regarding any industry or similar data
presented herein, such data involve risks and uncertainties and are subject to change based on various factors, including
those discussed under the “Risk Factors” section in this offering memorandum.

This offering memorandum makes reference to certain information taken from reports prepared by Nexant. These
reports were generally not prepared specifically for INEOS and in most cases relate to general industry analysis.

Nexant conducted its analysis and prepared its reports utilizing reasonable care and skill in applying methods of
analysis consistent with normal industry practice. All results are based on information available at the time of review.
Changes in factors upon which the review was based could affect the results. Forecasts are inherently uncertain because of
events or combinations of events that cannot reasonably be foreseen, including the actions of government, individuals, third
parties and competitors. There is no implied warranty of merchantability or fitness for a particular purpose to apply.

Some of the information on which the Nexant reports are based has been provided by others. Nexant has utilized

such information without verification unless specifically noted otherwise. Nexant accepts no liability for errors or
inaccuracies in information provided by others.
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SUMMARY

This summary highlights selected information contained elsewhere in this offering memorandum. It is not
complete and does not contain all the information that you should consider before investing in the Notes. The following
summary should be read in conjunction with and is qualified in its entirety by the more detailed information included
elsewhere in this offering memorandum. You should read the entire offering memorandum, including the more detailed
information in the consolidated financial statements and the related Notes included elsewhere in this offering
memorandum, before making an investment decision. See the section entitled “Risk Factors” for factors that you should
consider before investing in the Notes and the section entitled “Forward-Looking Statements” for information relating to
the statements contained in this offering memorandum that are not historical facts.

Overview

We are one of the world’s largest chemical companies as measured by revenue. Our business has highly
integrated, world-class chemical facilities and production technologies. We have leading global market positions for a
majority of our key products and a strong and stable customer base. We operate 31 manufacturing sites in six countries
throughout the world. We are led by a highly experienced management team with, on a combined basis, over 100 years of
experience in the chemical industry. As of June 30, 2017 our total chemical production capacity was approximately 21,700
kta, of which 58% was in Europe and 42% was in North America.

We operate our business through three segments: Olefins & Polymers Europe, Olefins & Polymers North
America and Chemical Intermediates. The products we manufacture are derived from crude oil and natural gas, and include
olefins, polymers and various petrochemical products directly or indirectly derived from olefins. Our products serve a
broad and diverse range of end markets, including packaging, construction, automotive, white goods/durables, fuels and
lubricants.

Our highly integrated, world class production facilities and technological know-how allow us to process raw
materials into higher value added products. In Europe we own two sites integrated with crackers and polymer units.
Typically, these two sites account for approximately 76% of our European olefin and polymer volumes. The polyolefins
plants on our two major sites in Europe receive more than 95% of their feedstock supply from our integrated crackers.
Similarly, in the United States, much of our olefin feedstock requirements for our polymer business is supplied by either
our Chocolate Bayou cracker in Texas or by integrated third party facilities, such as the Tesoro facility in Carson,
California. We believe that with our highly integrated facilities we are able to capture attractive margins across the value
chain, enjoy greater certainty of feedstock supply, reduce logistical costs, improve energy management and optimize our
product slate.

We benefit from the cost advantages of operating large-scale, well-invested, highly integrated facilities
strategically located near major transportation facilities and customer locations. Since January 1, 2007, we have invested
approximately €4.8 billion (including investments in divested assets) in our production facilities to ensure that they operate
efficiently, resulting in integrated, and state-of-the-art production units. We believe these investments allow us to operate at
lower cost and higher utilization rates than most of our competitors, and enable us to maintain positive margin and cash
flows even during downturns in industry cycles or customer demand. For the twelve-month period ended June 30, 2017,
our revenue was €14.3 billion and our EBITDA before exceptionals was €2.6 billion.

Over the past several years, we have implemented a range of strategic initiatives designed to lower our operating
costs, increase our profitability and further enhance our market position. These include fixed asset investments to expand
our capacity in higher value products, to enhance productivity at our existing facilities, and to reduce our fixed cost
structure through headcount reductions, production line closures and system upgrades. In addition, we have shifted our
product portfolio to focus on more differentiated products, exited low-margin businesses and implemented premium
pricing strategies designed to improve our margins. We believe these initiatives provide us with a strong platform to drive
growth, create significant operating leverage and position us to benefit from volume recovery in our end markets.

Since April 1998, when INEOS was established with the acquisition of the Belgian “Oxide” assets from
Inspec plc, we have significantly expanded, both through a series of strategic acquisitions of businesses and assets from
major chemical companies, and through organic growth. The combination of INEOS and Innovene in December 2005
represented a transformational milestone for our company, providing global scale and further upstream integration.

In 2011, we transferred our Refining Business, our Entrepreneurial (Refining) Business and certain infrastructure
assets to three joint ventures outside the INEOS Group. Please see “Business—Refining Divestiture, Grangemouth
Divestiture and Lavéra Divestiture—The Refining Divestiture” for a further description of the disposal of our Refining
Business and Entrepreneurial (Refining) Business.



On October 1, 2013, we completed the Grangemouth Divestiture to a newly created subsidiary of INEOS
Holdings AG, our indirect parent company. See “Business—Refining Divestiture, Grangemouth Divestiture and Lavéra
Divestiture—The Grangemouth Divestiture.”

On July 1, 2014 we divested the olefins and polymers assets and Chemical Intermediates assets of the Lavéra site.
See “Business—Refining Divestiture, Grangemouth Divestiture and Lavéra Divestiture—The Lavéra Divestiture.”

In 2015 we completed the purchase of the remaining 50% interest in the Noretyl ethylene cracker at Rafnes,
Norway from the INOVYN group (formerly the Kerling Group), a related party. In 2015 we also acquired aromatics and
cumene assets from Axiall Corporation for an initial cash consideration of $57.8 million (€51.9 million). The acquisition
comprised the world’s largest cumene plant in Pasadena, Texas. In addition, Axiall’s phenol acetone and
alpha-methylstyrene business was transferred to the INEOS phenol facility at Mobile, Alabama.

In 2016 the Group acquired 100% of the shares of WLP Holding Corporation, one of the largest high density
polyethylene (HDPE) pipe manufacturers in North America. Moreover, in 2016, following a strategic review of the INEOS
Technologies business, we decided to cease marketing its polyolefins licensing technology externally and to transfer the
remaining parts of the INEOS Technologies business to existing businesses within the Group to provide a clearer focus on

individual product lines.

Products

The table below sets forth revenue and EBITDA before exceptionals for the twelve-month period ended June 30,

2017, and the key products for our primary lines of business.

For the twelve-month

period
ended June 30, 2017
EBITDA
before
Business Revenue!” exceptionals Key Products Key End Uses
(€ in millions)
O&P Europe .......cccceueenee 5,412.9 774.1 Benzene Coatings
Butadiene Films
Ethylene Flexible & rigid packaging
High-density polyethylene Injection molded plastics
Linear low-density polyethylene Petrochemical feedstock
Low-density polyethylene
Polypropylene
Propylene
O&P North America...... 3,392.5 1,013.0 Ethylene Coatings
High-density polyethylene Films
Polypropylene Flexible & rigid packaging
Propylene Injection molded plastics
Petrochemical feedstock
Chemical Intermediates . 7,101.4 809.3 Acetone Agrochemicals
Acetonitrile Automobiles
Acrylonitrile Coolants
Alkoxylates Electronics
Ammonia Fibers
Barex Resins Fuel additives
Cumene Industrial solvents
Ethanolamines Medical
Ethyl acetate Metal extraction
Ethylene glycols Nylons
Ethylene oxide Oil & gas processing
Glycol ether esters Packaging
Glycol ethers Paints
Hydrogen cyanide Pharmaceuticals
Linear alpha olefins Resins
Nitric acid Surfactants

Oxo alcohols

Synthetics lubricants

Phenol Water purification
General consumer

Poly alpha olefins applications
General industrial

Propylene glycols applications

Propylene oxide



Technology & license packages
Catalyst & additive supply
Environmental emission credits

(€8] Excludes intersegmental eliminations.
Olefins & Polymers Europe and Olefins & Polymers North America

In our olefins and polymers businesses, we produce olefins, other cracker products, such as butadiene and
benzene, and a broad range of polyolefin polymers. We are among the largest producers of olefins and polymers in the
world. The focus of our olefins business in Europe and North America is on ethylene and propylene, which are the two
largest volume olefins globally and are key building blocks for polymers. The olefins we make are primarily used as
feedstock for our derivatives businesses. In addition, we sell olefins to third-party customers for a variety of industrial and
consumer applications, including the manufacture of plastics, rubber and fiber. In our polymers business, we focus on
polyethylene and polypropylene.

We operate a total of 16 sites for olefins and polyolefins, including our large integrated olefins cracker and
polyolefin facilities at K6ln, Germany, Rafnes, Norway, and Chocolate Bayou, Texas, United States and six polyethylene
pipe manufacturing sites within the United States. These facilities support our highly competitive proprietary polyolefin
process technologies. The technologies include our cost-effective gas phase polypropylene technology, our specialized
technology for high-density polyethylene and our flexible proprietary “swing” technology for both linear low-density and
high-density polyethylene.

The North American and European markets for olefins and polyolefins are quite distinct, with separate pricing
structures and distribution channels. As a result, each market may experience different rates of growth and levels of return.
Therefore, we operate these two businesses separately and report them as two distinct segments—INEOS Olefins &
Polymers Europe and INEOS Olefins & Polymers North America. For the twelve-month period ended June 30, 2017, our
Olefins & Polymers Europe and Olefins & Polymers North America businesses contributed €5.4 billion and €3.4 billion of
revenue and €774.1 million and €1.0 billion of EBITDA before exceptionals, respectively, excluding inter-segmental
eliminations.

Chemical Intermediates

Chemical intermediates are higher-value-added chemical products used as key components in a wide variety of
consumer and industrial products. In our Chemical Intermediates business, we utilize olefins as key raw materials and
produce a wide range of products.

We have four main product groups within our Chemical Intermediates business: INEOS Nitriles, INEOS
Oligomers, INEOS Oxide and INEOS Phenol. The activities of INEOS Enterprises are also included within Chemical
Intermediates. Together they produce a wide range of products including phenol, acetone, alpha olefins, ethylene oxide and
derivatives, acrylonitrile, ammonia and nitric acid. We have a total of 16 manufacturing sites globally, with many of our
plants integrated either directly with their key raw materials on-site, or integrated via pipeline connection.

We are the world’s leading producer of phenol, which is an essential starting material for a wide range of
applications in the electrical/electronics, automotive, construction and household/furniture industries. Our main product in
the nitriles sector is acrylonitrile, which is used in the production of acrylic fibers and acrylonitrile butadiene styrene
plastic. We are also among the largest volume suppliers of linear and poly alpha olefins in the world. According to Nexant,
we are the largest producer of ethylene oxide in Western Europe. We have a range of associated products, including
ethylene glycol, propylene oxide, propylene glycol and acetate esters. We manufacture and supply high-quality catalysts
and additives in support of various technologies to major companies around the world, and also to our own manufacturing
assets. For the twelve months ended June 30, 2017, our Chemical Intermediates revenue and EBITDA before exceptionals
were €7.1 billion and €809.3 million, respectively, excluding intersegmental eliminations.

Our Competitive Strengths

We believe that the factors set forth below provide us with a competitive advantage in the markets in which we
compete:

*  Diversified Portfolio of Businesses with Leading Market Positions. We are one of the world’s largest
chemical companies. We operate 31 manufacturing sites in six countries around the world. These assets have
a total production capacity of approximately 21,700 kta as of June 30, 2017. We believe we have a top 5 or
better global or regional market position in 12 of our key products.



Our petrochemical products are utilized in a wide range of end-market applications. The following diagram
sets forth our petrochemicals revenue by end use application in 2016.

Peirochemicals Revenue by Application 2016
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Our petrochemical products are sold to customers in diverse geographic locations. The following diagram
sets forth the group third party revenue by region in 2016.

Group Third Party Revenue by Region 2016
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We believe that such application and market diversity reduces the effect of industry cyclicality on our results.
In addition, we believe that we benefit from the fact that the supply and demand dynamics of the cycles
relating to our petrochemical products are fairly independent, which helps mitigate some of the cyclicality in
the industry.

Vertically Integrated, World-Scale Producer. We have three large-scale petrochemical sites, accounting
for approximately 43% of our total petrochemical production capacity as of June 30, 2017. Each of these sites
is integrated with a major cracker and/or polymers and derivatives unit.

We operate one of the largest single-site ethylene oxide/ethylene glycol plants in Europe and the two largest
phenol plants in Europe, one of which is the largest in the world, as well as the largest single train phenol plant
in North America. We operate the largest acrylonitrile facility in the world and one of the largest high-density
polyethylene complexes in North America. We believe that our existing plants have sufficient capacity such
that as our production volumes increase, we will be able to leverage our fixed cost base and increase our
profitability.

Our sites are typically located near raw materials, refineries and associated pipeline infrastructure. We
believe our highly integrated facilities provide us with the ability to capture margins across the value chain,
enjoy certainty of feedstock supply (particularly for ethylene), reduce logistical costs, improve energy
management, adjust the product slate to capture greater value (by selling olefins or, alternatively, by using
them internally in the production of polymers or derivatives) and reduce our exposure to margin volatility as
a result of changes in raw material prices. We operate large plants that permit us to spread fixed costs over
large volumes of production, thereby reducing unit costs and enhancing profits.

Well-Invested, Highly Efficient Production Facilities. Our large, well-invested plants benefit from
economies of scale and favorable locations. Our acquisition activity has focused on acquiring businesses that
complement our existing manufacturing facilities with well-invested physical assets from major chemical
companies. In addition, each year we continue to invest in improving and expanding our facilities. Since
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January 1, 2007, we have invested approximately € 4.8 billion in our manufacturing assets (including
investments in divested assets) to maximize efficiency and create integrated state-of-the-art production units.

*  Extensive Portfolio of Leading Proprietary Technologies. We have a broad portfolio of proprietary
manufacturing technologies which we use for the manufacturing of our key products. We believe that they
enable us to be one of the lowest cost producers and provide us with a significant competitive advantage in
terms of product quality, and we continue to improve the portfolio through focused research and technology
investments.

*  Experienced Management Team with a Strong Track Record. Our senior management team has been
operating INEOS and our predecessors for the past 18 years and has a demonstrated track record of achieving
profitable growth in the chemical industry, successfully integrating large acquisitions, dramatically reducing
the fixed cost base, and deleveraging the business following such acquisitions. James Ratcliffe, our
controlling shareholder, and the other existing shareholders have a successful record of investing in the
chemical industry. Across the wider INEOS group, including our ultimate parent company and its other
subsidiaries, we have completed 31 significant acquisitions since the formation of INEOS in 1998. Each of
these acquisitions has been integrated effectively and we have been able to achieve significant cost-savings in
the acquired businesses. Our management team has extensive experience in the chemical industry, including
with leading companies such as ICI, DuPont, Dow, Degussa and BP, and a proven ability to increase
productivity, reduce costs and control capital expenditures and working capital. We believe the experience of
our management team is a distinct competitive advantage.

In addition, our senior management team has demonstrated the ability to streamline our businesses by
focusing on core competencies and disposing of non-core or underperforming businesses. In the past six
years, we have disposed of three non-core or underperforming businesses. We disposed of the Refining
Business and the Entrepreneurial (Refining) Business in July 2011. On October 1, 2013, we completed the
Grangemouth Divestiture to a newly created subsidiary of INEOS Holdings AG, our indirect parent
company. See “Business—Refining Divestiture, Grangemouth Divestiture and Lavéra Divestiture—The
Grangemouth Divestiture.” Most recently, on July 1, 2014, the Group completed the Lavéra Divestiture to a
new subsidiary of INEOS AG, the ultimate parent company of the Group at the time of the divestiture. See
“Business—Refining Divestiture, Grangemouth Divestiture and Lavéra Divestiture—The Lavéra
Divestiture.” The disposal of these three businesses has enabled us to focus management time on core
activities, reduce our capital expenditure requirements going forward and also reduce our exposure to
underperforming cash consuming businesses.

*  Access to Advantaged Feedstocks. Our Chocolate Bayou cracker installation in the U.S. uses natural gas
liquids-based feedstocks, such as ethane, as its main feedstocks. This allows us to benefit from the current
low-cost supply of ethane resulting from the growth in the supply of shale gas in the U.S. Ethane is also a
lower-cost feedstock than naphtha in Europe, where we operate a very efficient gas olefin cracker in Rafnes.
Our other olefin cracker in Europe, at K6ln, is a naphtha cracker, but it has significant gas cracking flexibility.
Our ability to use lower-cost feedstocks, like ethane, gives us an advantage over our competitors with
crackers that cannot accept such a significant mix of gas feedstocks, and must rely on more expensive
naphtha. In addition, our Chocolate Bayou cracker and our naphtha crackers in Europe can also use naphtha
as a feedstock, allowing us to manage our feedstock mix in response to changes in economic and market
conditions and maximize our margins. Our new fleet of eight long-term chartered Dragon class ships,
together with the expanded gas storage terminal in Rafnes, a new deep water terminal near Philadelphia and
long-term supply contracts, provides us access to the attractive U.S. ethane market for our gas-based cracker
in Rafnes, Norway.

Our Business Strategy

In response to challenges resulting from the current macroeconomic environment and as part of our long-term
strategic aim, we have maintained and will continue to execute a strategy consisting of the following short- and long-term
elements. These are designed to help us improve our capital structure, leverage our key strengths and market opportunities
and ensure ongoing cash flow generation and growth:

*  Where and When Appropriate, and Within the Confines of Our Capital Structure, to Pursue Long-term
Value-added Growth Opportunities. As a result of our lean corporate structure, we are able to maintain a
level of agility that few organizations our size are able to match. We have a highly disciplined evaluation
process and a detailed series of metrics by which we measure the value creation prospects of potential
projects. Opportunities for profitable growth are identified and vetted in an efficient, non-bureaucratic
format, which, in many cases, we believe enables us to establish a first-mover advantage. For example, we
intend to continue to pursue options to exploit shale gas in the U.S. through the expansion of our Chocolate
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Bayou cracker (some capacity having already been added in 2014 and 2016), and build a new high-density
polyethylene plant at our Battleground site in Texas in a joint venture with Sasol Limited, which is expected
to be operational in late 2017. Our O&P Europe business also has in place 15-year supply and infrastructure
agreements entered in 2012 to access ethane feedstock from the U.S. for use in its European cracker
complexes. On July 1, 2015, we completed the purchase of the remaining 50% interest in the Noretyl ethylene
cracker at Rafnes, Norway from the INOVYN group (formerly the Kerling Group), a related party.
Subsequently, we have modernized and expanded the Noretyl gas cracker at Rafnes to its present annual
capacity of 645,000 tonnes of ethylene. In addition, construction is underway for a new 420,000 tonnes linear
alpha olefins plant at Chocolate Bayou, Texas, which we estimate will be operational in the first quarter of
2019. We are currently pursuing several other projects that we believe provide opportunities for profitable
growth.

Maintain World-Class Health, Safety, Security and Environmental (“HSSE”) Excellence. We are
dedicated to continually improving our HSSE performance. We ensure that all employees receive appropriate
training, thereby enabling them to effectively contribute to HSSE performance and HSSE improvement
processes. It is our policy to design our processes and manufacture and distribute our products in a
responsible manner so that our employees, customers, the public and the environment are protected from
avoidable risks. Our strategy is to continue achieving injury and environmental compliance ratings better than
world-class benchmarks.

Generate Cost Savings and Enhance Efficiency. We have historically succeeded in reducing costs at our
acquired businesses by making rapid reductions in underlying fixed costs and implementing an efficient
corporate and management structure. We have achieved significant fixed cost reductions in businesses that
we have acquired, delivering on average a reduction of 22% of inherited fixed costs in the four-year period
post acquisition. Continuous improvements in the efficiency of our existing sites and opportunities for site
consolidation are key aspects of this strategy, as we seek to maintain upper quartile cost positions and
world-scale facilities across the majority of our operations. The control of fixed costs will continue to be a key
priority for our business.

Generate Strong Cash Flow to Reduce Leverage. We intend to continue our focus on cash flow generation
by maximizing the utilization of assets, leveraging existing resources, continuously improving working
capital practices, following disciplined and focused capital expenditure and cost reduction plans and
optimizing where possible our capital structure. In January 2015, we implemented a global restructuring of
our capital to ensure the location of our interest deductions more closely matched the location of our
operating cash flows. We estimate that this restructuring has reduced our cash tax expense in the United
States by approximately $192 million in the two years ended December 31, 2016, and we expect that saving
to continue going forward, based on current corporate tax rates and assuming similar levels of profit in the
United States. We apply when possible the cash flows generated from these initiatives to help reduce our
debt.

Maximize Utilization of Assets. As alow-cost focused producer, we believe in operating our facilities at full
capacity. We believe this allows us to maintain positive margins and cash flows, even during downturns in
industry cycles or customer demand, more readily than some of our competitors who have higher production
costs. We intend to achieve growth in production volume by improving utilization rates within the defined
availability of an asset, improving availability of an asset by minimizing planned and unplanned facility
downtime and improving capacity of an asset through de-bottlenecking projects. We have a strong track
record of improving utilization rates of acquired assets.

Maintain a Lean Corporate Structure and Incentivize Employees. We intend to operate our business in a
manner that is consistent with the philosophy of our shareholders and maintain a simple and decentralized,
flat organizational structure that minimizes corporate bureaucracy, coupled with compensation arrangements
that incentivize our employees. We believe that a simple and decentralized organizational structure is
cost-effective and will allow each of our management teams the freedom to use their industry knowledge to
respond to market opportunities. We believe that we can increase the value of our business when our
employees share in the value they create. In the past, we have granted our employees tracking shares with
respect to each of our businesses and regions, with management and employee bonuses and long-term
incentive plans linked to the EBITDA performance and other factors of the business in which they work.

Maximize Flexibility to Use Advantaged Feedstocks. We remain focused on our strategy of acquiring
advantaged feedstock sources and improving our flexibility to use different feedstocks to take advantage of
changing market conditions. Earlier this year, we entered into an agreement to construct a butane tank that we
believe will be the largest in Europe. The tank will be located in Antwerp, Belgium, and is planned to come on
stream in 2019. The tank will allow us to import butane from the U.S. (and from all over the world) to supply
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material to our naphtha crackers at KéIn. This agreement complements our contracts signed in 2012 and 2015
to source ethane directly from the U.S. for our Rafnes cracker. In 2015, we also completed a new ethane
import tank and new ethane furnace at our Norwegian plant. Our new Dragon class ships help transport these
feedstocks to the Rafnes facility. We are also committed to maintaining flexibility in feedstock while
expanding our olefins capacity. For example, our Chocolate Bayou plant predominantly uses liquid-based
natural gas as feedstock, but has the ability to process naphtha and our Kéln plant is capable of switching
between naphtha and butane as a feedstock. This enables us to manage our feedstock mix in line with
changing market and economic conditions.

Summary Corporate and Financing Structure

The following chart illustrates our simplified corporate structure and principal indebtedness after giving pro forma

effect to the Transactions. For a summary of the debt obligations referred to in this chart, see “Description of Other
Indebtedness” and “Description of the Notes.”
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Incorporated in Isle of Man.

Incorporated in Switzerland.

Incorporated in Luxembourg.

Incorporated in England and Wales.

Organized in Delaware, United States.

Refers to the €770,000,000 aggregate principal amount of 4% 2023 Senior Secured Notes.

Refers to the Senior Secured Term Loans borrowed under the Senior Secured Term Loans Agreement, dated as of April 27, 2012 and as
amended, restated, supplemented and varied from time to time, among INEOS Finance plc and INEOS US Finance LLC, as borrowers, certain
subsidiaries of IGH, Barclays Bank PLC and certain lenders.

Refers to the $500.0 million aggregate principal amount of 5°/3% Senior Notes due 2024 and €600.0 million aggregate principal amount of
53/s% Senior Notes due 2024 issued pursuant to the 2024 IGH Notes Indenture.
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T On the Issue Date, the Notes were jointly and severally guaranteed by the Parent, Lux I, INEOS Holdings Limited and certain of their
subsidiaries (the “Guarantors”), together representing 92.9% of the Parent’s consolidated EBITDA before exceptionals for the twelve-month
period ended June 30, 2017, and holding 87.0% of the Parent’s consolidated total assets as of June 30, 2017. Each Guarantor also guarantees
the Senior Secured Term Loans and the 2023 Senior Secured Notes on a pari pasu basis. Each Guarantor (except IGH as the issuer) also
guarantees the 2024 IGH Notes on a senior subordinated basis. The obligations of each Guarantor are subject to various limitations. See
“Limitations on Validity and Enforceability of the Guarantees and the Security Interests” and “Risk Factors—Risks Relating to the Notes and
Our Capital Structure—Guarantees and Collateral limitations—The guarantees and pledges of Collateral will be subject to certain limitations
on enforcement and may be limited by applicable laws or subject to certain defenses that may limit their validity and enforceability.”

Principal Shareholders and Our Relationships with INEOS Limited

We are a wholly owned subsidiary of INEOS Holdings Luxembourg S.A. INEOS Holdings AG exercises a
controlling interest over INEOS Holdings Luxembourg S.A. through its majority interest in the voting share capital. The
issued share capital of INEOS Holdings AG is held by INEOS AG. The issue share capital of INEOS AG is held by INEOS
Limited. See also “Management” and “Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions.”

James Ratcliffe, Andrew Currie and John Reece control us through shareholdings in INEOS Limited. INEOS AG,
whose share capital is held by INEOS Limited, provides operational management services to us. Messrs. Ratcliffe, Currie
and Reece also control INOVYN, a producer of chlor-alkali and PVC, INEOS Industries Limited, a portfolio of businesses,
including ABS, Melamines, INEOS Paraform, a manufacturer of formaldehyde-based chemicals, INEOS Upstream
Limited, an oil and gas exploration and production business, and INEOS Investments, the entity which holds a 49.9%, a
50.1% and a 50.0% direct interest in the Entrepreneurial (Refining) Business JV, the Refining Business JV and the
Infrastructure Entity, respectively. INEOS Investments also holds a 25.05% indirect interest in the Infrastructure Entity by
virtue of its 50.1% stake in the Refining Business JV. In addition, INEOS Industries Limited holds a 100% interest in
Styrolution through its wholly owned subsidiary, INEOS Industries Holdings Limited. We have entered into a number of
significant transactions and arrangements with INOVYN, INEOS Industries Limited, INEOS Paraform, the
Entrepreneurial (Refining) Business JV, the Refining Business JV, the Infrastructure Entity and Styrolution in the past, and
the Indenture permits us to continue to do so in the future. Please see “Certain Relationships and Related Party
Transactions.” In connection with the Refining Divestiture, we also entered into various arrangements with the Refining
and Entrepreneurial JVs and the Infrastructure Entity, however, as a result of the Lavéra Divestiture, we no longer have
contractual arrangements with the Infrastructure Entity. Please see “Business—Refining Divestiture, Grangemouth
Divestiture and Lavéra Divestiture—The Refining Divestiture.” Additionally, in connection with the Grangemouth
Divestiture, we have entered into various arrangements with INEOS Grangemouth ple, and, in connection with the Lavéra
Divestiture, we have entered into various arrangements with INEOS Europe AG and INEOS Group AG. Please see
“Business—Refining Divestiture, Grangemouth Divestiture and Lavéra Divestiture—The Grangemouth Divestiture,”
“Business—Refining Divestiture, Grangemouth Divestiture and Lavéra Divestiture—The Lavéra Divestiture,”
“Business—Refining Divestiture, Grangemouth Divestiture and Lavéra Divestiture—Contractual Arrangements with the
Refining and Entrepreneurial JVs,” and “Business—Refining Divestiture, Grangemouth Divestiture and Lavéra
Divestiture—Contractual Arrangements with the Lavéra, Sarralbe & Rosignano petrochemicals businesses.”



RECENT DEVELOPMENTS
Loans to Related Parties

On September 20, 2017, INEOS Upstream Limited, a wholly-owned, oil and gas subsidiary of INEOS Limited
and an affiliate of the Group, acquired further natural gas assets in the North Sea through its acquisition of the entire oil and
gas business of DONG Energy A/S (the “DONG Acquisition”). In connection with the DONG Acquisition, the Group
advanced a loan of $376.2 million to INEOS Upstream Limited, the proceeds of which were on-lent to certain of its
subsidiaries. The loan is unsecured and matures in June 2022.

On July 25, 2017, INEOS Grangemouth plc repaid the Group € 127.0 million in full repayment (including accrued
interest) of the affiliate loan facility. See “Business—Refining Divestiture, Grangemouth Divestiture and Lavéra
Divestiture—The Grangemouth Divestiture.”

Trading Statement

On October 19, 2017, INEOS published its third quarter 2017 trading statement, which includes certain
preliminary management information relating to our financial performance in the third quarter of 2017, a summary of
which is provided below. This preliminary information has been prepared by, and is the responsibility of management, and
is based solely on preliminary internal information used by management. Our interim financial statements for the quarter
ended September 30, 2017 have not yet been completed. Because this information for the third quarter of 2017 is
preliminary, it could change and may not be indicative of the financial quarter results and may not be indicative of any other
period. See “Forward-Looking Statements.” PricewaterhouseCoopers, Société coopérative, has not audited, reviewed,
compiled or performed any procedures with respect to this preliminary management information. Accordingly,
PricewaterhouseCoopers, Société coopérative does not express an opinion or any other form of assurance with respect
thereto.

Based on unaudited preliminary management information, INEOS estimates that EBITDA before exceptionals for
the third quarter of 2017 will decrease by approximately 11% compared to the EBITDA before exceptionals for the third
quarter of 2016 of €647 million and will decrease by approximately 10% compared to the EBITDA before exceptionals for
the second quarter of 2017 of €638 million. For a discussion of how we define EBITDA before exceptionals, please see
“Presentation of Financial and Non-IFRS Information—Use of Non-IFRS Financial Measures.”

North American markets have continued to be strong, taking full benefit from their current feedstock advantage.
Market conditions in Europe have remained good, supported by the continued weakness of the euro. In addition, markets in
Asia have seen some strength in the quarter.

Hurricane Harvey in August 2017 had a significant impact on the Group’s performance for the quarter. A number
of the Group’s facilities in Texas were temporarily closed due to the hurricane, resulting in some lost production volumes,
particularly in the O&P North America segment. The estimated reduction in EBITDA for the third quarter due to the
hurricane was approximately €50 million. All of the plants are now back to full operations with the exception of one train at
the Nitriles plant in Green Lake, Texas and an HDPE unit at Cedar Bayou, Texas.

We estimate that O&P North America will report a decrease in EBITDA before exceptionals of approximately
23% for the third quarter of 2017 compared to EBITDA before exceptionals of €280 million for the third quarter of 2016.
The business has continued to benefit from its flexibility to be able to utilize cheaper NGL feedstocks to maintain healthy
margins. The US cracker business environment was solid with healthy margins and high operating rates throughout the
quarter before the impact of Hurricane Harvey. Demand for automotive, pipe and other durable grades of polyethylene was
strong, whilst polypropylene demand remained solid in a well-balanced market.

We estimate that O&P Europe will report an increase in EBITDA before exceptionals of approximately 2% for the
third quarter of 2017 compared to EBITDA before exceptionals of €193 million for the third quarter of 2016. Demand for
olefins in the quarter was solid in a tight market with healthy margins. Butadiene prices have now increased after their
decline in the second quarter, supported by stronger demand from Asia. One of the cracker units at Koln started a scheduled
major turnaround at the end of the quarter. European polymer demand was good in a balanced market, with solid volumes
and healthy margins in the quarter. Demand has been further buoyed by strong demand from the USA to backfill supply
shortages as a result of Hurricane Harvey.

We estimate that Chemical Intermediates will report a decrease in EBITDA before exceptionals of approximately
5% for the third quarter of 2017 compared to EBITDA before exceptionals of €174 million for the third quarter of 2016. All
of the businesses performed well in the quarter, with sustained good demand for products together with tight supply side
conditions as a result of planned and unplanned competitor outages. The overall demand trend in the Oligomers business
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was strong in all product sectors and markets, most notably in the LAO and PAO segments. Demand for the Oxide business
was balanced, with glycol markets showing some strength. Market conditions for the Nitriles business were strong due to a
combination of strong underlying demand and supply limitations due to a number of industry outages in both China and the
U.S. Phenol markets remained solid in both North America and Europe, with some weakness in Asia.

The Group has continued to focus on cash management and liquidity. We estimate that net debt as of
September 30, 2017 has decreased by approximately 4% compared to net debt as of June 30, 2017. We estimate that our
cash and cash equivalents as of September 30, 2017 increased by approximately 8% compared to our cash and cash
equivalents of € 1,339 million as of June 30, 2017, and availability under undrawn working capital facilities was
approximately €362 million. We estimate that our net debt leverage was approximately 2.0 times as at the end of September
2017.
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THE OFFERING

The following overview of the Offering contains basic information about the Notes, the guarantees and the
security. It is not intended to be complete and it is subject to important limitations and exceptions. For a more complete
understanding of the Notes, the guarantees and the security including certain definitions of terms used in this overview,
please see “Description of the Notes” and “Description of the Collateral and the Guarantees.”

Issuer..........cccoooo
Notes Offered .........cccoooovvvvvvvennnnnnnn.

Issue Date.................ooooeee.
Maturity Date.....................

Interest Rates and Payment Dates..

Denominations.....................

Ranking of the Notes ..........

Guarantees ..........................

Ranking of the Guarantees

INEOS Finance plc

€550,000,000 aggregate principal amount of 2'/s% Senior Secured Notes due 2025

(the “Notes™).

November 3, 2017 (the “Issue Date™).

The Notes will mature on November 15, 2025.

The interest rate on the Notes is 2'/s%, payable semi-annually in arrears on May 15

and November 15 of each year, commencing May 15, 2018.

Interest on the Notes will accrue from the Issue Date.

The Notes were issued in denominations of €100,000 and any integral multiple of

€1,000 in excess thereof. Notes in denominations of less than €100,000 will not be

available.

The Notes are the general senior secured obligations of the Issuer and:

e are guaranteed on a senior secured basis by the Guarantors;

« are secured by the Collateral as set forth below under “Security; Enforcement of
Security”;

» rank equally in right of payment with all existing and future obligations of the
Issuer that are not subordinated to the Notes, including, without limitation, the
obligations under the Senior Secured Term Loans;

» rank effectively senior to all existing and future obligations of the Issuer that are
unsecured or secured by liens junior to the liens securing the Notes to the extent
of the value of the Collateral,

» rank senior in right of payment to all existing and future obligations of the
Issuer that are expressly subordinated in right of payment to the Notes,
including the Issuer’s guarantee of the 2024 IGH Notes; and

» are effectively subordinated in right of payment to all of the liabilities of,
including trade payables and letters of credit issued by, Lux I’s subsidiaries that
do not guarantee the Notes.

On the Issue Date, the Notes were jointly and severally guaranteed by the Parent,

Lux I, INEOS Holdings Limited and certain of their subsidiaries (the “Guarantors”),

together representing 92.9% of the Parent’s consolidated EBITDA before

exceptionals for the twelve-month period ended June 30, 2017, and holding 87.0%

of the Parent’s consolidated total assets as of June 30, 2017.

Each Guarantor also guarantees the Senior Secured Term Loans and the 2023 Senior

Secured Notes on a pari passu basis and each Guarantor (other than the Parent) also

guarantees the 2024 IGH Notes on a senior subordinated basis. The obligations of

each Guarantor are subject to various limitations. See “Limitations on Validity and

Enforceability of the Guarantees and the Security Interests” and “Risk

Factors—Risks Relating to the Notes and Our Capital Structure—Guarantees and

Collateral limitations—The guarantees and pledges of Collateral will be subject to

certain limitations on enforcement and may be limited by applicable laws or subject

to certain defenses that may limit their validity and enforceability.”

The guarantee of each Guarantor is, subject to any limitation of guarantee, a general

senior secured obligation of such Guarantor and:

*  ranks equally in right of payment with all existing and future obligations of such
Guarantor that are not subordinated in right of payment to such guarantee,
including with respect to the guarantee of the Notes by each Guarantor,
obligations under the Senior Secured Term Loans Agreement, the 2023 Senior
Secured Notes and, with respect to the guarantee of the Notes by the Parent, the
2024 IGH Notes;

» ranks effectively senior to all existing and future obligations of such Guarantor
that are unsecured or secured by liens junior to the liens securing the guarantees
to the extent of the value of the Collateral,

* ranks senior in right of payment to all existing and future obligations of such
Guarantor that are subordinated in right of payment to such guarantee,
including the guarantees by Lux I and its subsidiaries of the 2024 IGH Notes;
and
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« s effectively subordinated to any existing and future obligations and other
liabilities of such Guarantor that are secured by liens senior to the liens securing
such guarantee, or secured by property and assets that do not secure such
guarantee, to the extent of the value of the property and assets securing such
obligations and other liabilities.

Security; Enforcement of Security . Subject to the terms of the security documents, no later than 30 days after the Issue

Additional Amounts

Date or, in the case of certain deposit accounts and security account control
agreements and certain real property collateral, 60 and 90 days after the Issue Date,
respectively, the Notes and the related guarantees will be secured by first-priority
liens (subject to certain exceptions) on the same assets that secure the Senior
Secured Term Loans and the 2023 Senior Secured Notes.

Certain security interests were, as a matter of local law, granted as junior ranking
security interests in relation to the security granted in respect of the Senior Secured
Term Loans and the 2023 Senior Secured Notes. Nevertheless, the Intercreditor
Deed provides that as a contractual matter among Senior Secured Creditors (as
defined in the Intercreditor Deed), the Notes will be secured on a pari passu basis
with the 2023 Senior Secured Notes, the Senior Secured Term Loans, certain
hedging obligations and certain cash management obligations and will be treated as
such for purposes of the application of proceeds from the enforcement of such
Collateral.

The existing first-ranking liens securing the Senior Secured Term Loans and the
2023 Senior Secured Notes that were created under New York, Luxembourg,
Scottish, Norwegian and Jersey law will remain in place and were, or with respect to
the Post-Closing Collateral will be, extended to secure the Notes. In some
jurisdictions, the security documents creating the existing first-ranking liens
securing the Senior Secured Term Loans and the 2023 Senior Secured Notes were,
or with respect to the Post-Closing Collateral will be, amended to extend such liens
(or, with respect to Belgian Security, confirmed that these liens extended) to the
Notes (or, with respect to French and certain of the German security interests, junior
ranking security interests were granted). The existing first-ranking liens securing the
Senior Secured Term Loans and the 2023 Senior Secured Notes that were created
under English law and Singapore law will remain in place, and new liens over the
same Collateral were created in these jurisdictions to secure the Notes. In these
jurisdictions where new liens are created, the ranking of these new liens relative to
the existing liens will, as a matter of general law, depend on a number of factors,
such as the nature of the liens, the order of creation of the liens, compliance with the
jurisdiction’s perfection requirements with respect to the liens and the order of
giving notices with respect to the liens, and accordingly without the Intercreditor
Deed, the new liens would be likely to rank after the existing liens. However, the
Intercreditor Deed provides that, as a contractual matter, the liens securing the
Notes, the 2023 Senior Secured Notes and the Senior Secured Term Loans will rank
pari passu and will be treated as having equal priority with respect to the application
of proceeds from the enforcement of any Collateral. See “Description of the
Collateral and the Guarantees.”

The liens on the Collateral securing the Senior Secured Term Loans and the 2023
Senior Secured Notes are already in place and will continue to remain in place and
were, or with respect to the Post-Closing Collateral will be, either amended to
extend the security to the Notes, or, as mentioned above, new junior ranking liens
were created.

In addition, the Intercreditor Deed provides that a simple majority in aggregate
amount of all senior secured debt (including the Notes, any additional Notes, certain
hedging obligations, certain cash management obligations, the Senior Secured Term
Loans, the 2023 Senior Secured Notes and any other senior secured notes or credit
facilities that are permitted to be issued under the Indenture and that the trustees or
lenders in respect thereof accede to the Intercreditor Deed) under the Intercreditor
Deed can instruct the Security Trustee with respect to enforcement of the security.
For a description of security enforcement and other intercreditor provisions, please
see “Description of Other Indebtedness—Intercreditor Deed.”

All payments paid by or on behalf of the Issuer, any Guarantor or any surviving
entity under or with respect to the Notes or any guarantee under the Notes will be
made free and clear of, and without withholding or deduction for or on account of,
any present or future tax, duty, levy, impost, assessment, withholding or other
governmental charges (including, without limitation, penalties, interest and other
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Optional Redemption of Notes........

Optional Redemption for

Taxation Reasons ..

Change of Control.....

Certain Covenants....

Transfer Restrictions

similar liabilities related thereto) of whatever nature (collectively, “Taxes”), unless

such withholding or deduction is required by law or by the interpretation or

administration of law, or by an applicable certification, identification, information

or other reporting requirement or agreement, if entering into or complying with such

requirement or agreement is required by law of a taxing authority therein or political

subdivision thereof as a precondition to relief or exemption from such Tax. If any

amount for, or on account of Taxes imposed or levied by or on behalf of any

jurisdiction in which the Issuer, any Guarantor or, if applicable, any surviving entity

is incorporated, organized or otherwise subject to Tax or from or through which any

of the foregoing makes any payment on the Notes or by any taxing authority therein

or political subdivision thereof, is required to be withheld or deducted from any

payment made under or with respect to the Notes or any guarantee, the Issuer,

Guarantor or surviving entity, as the case may be, will pay such additional amounts

as may be necessary to ensure that the net amount received after such withholding or

deduction will be not less than the amount that would have been received if such

Taxes had not been required to be withheld or deducted, subject to certain

exceptions. See “Description of the Notes—Payment of Additional Amounts.”

Prior to November 15, 2020, the Issuer may redeem all or a portion of the Notes at a

redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of such Notes plus the

applicable “make-whole” premium set forth in this offering memorandum, plus

accrued and unpaid interest to the redemption date.

On or after November 15, 2020, the Issuer may redeem all or a portion of the Notes

at the redemption prices set forth in this offering memorandum under the caption

“Description of the Notes—Optional Redemption” plus accrued and unpaid interest

to the redemption date.

In addition, at any time prior to November 15, 2020, the Issuer may redeem up to

40% of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes with the proceeds of certain

equity offerings at 102.125% of the principal amount of the Notes, plus accrued

interest; provided that at least 60% of the originally issued aggregate principal

amount of the Notes remains outstanding immediately after each such redemption

and each such redemption occurs within 180 days after the date of the relevant

equity offering. Please see “Description of the Notes—Optional Redemption.”

In the event of certain developments affecting taxation, the Issuer may redeem all,

but not less than all, of the Notes at 100% of the principal amount thereof, plus

accrued and unpaid interest to the date of redemption. Please see “Description of the

Notes—Redemption upon Changes in Withholding Taxes.”

Upon the occurrence of certain events constituting a “change of control,” the Issuer

is required to offer to repurchase all outstanding Notes at a purchase price in cash of

101% of the principal amount thereof on the date of purchase plus accrued and

unpaid interest, if any, to the date of purchase. See “Description of the

Notes—Purchase of Notes upon a Change of Control.”

The Indenture contains covenants that, among other things, limit the ability of Lux I

and its restricted subsidiaries to:

* incur or guarantee additional indebtedness and issue certain preferred stock;

* layer debt;

* make restricted payments, including dividends or other distributions;

»  prepay or redeem subordinated debt or equity;

¢ make certain investments;

*  create or permit to exist certain liens;

e transfer, lease or sell certain assets;

e enter into arrangements that impose restrictions on the ability of our restricted
subsidiaries to pay dividends or make other payments to Lux I;

* engage in certain transactions with affiliates;

*  consolidate, merge or transfer all or substantially all of our assets and the assets
of our subsidiaries on a consolidated basis;

*  impair the security interests for the benefit of the holders of the Notes; and

* amend certain documents.

Each of these covenants is subject to a number of important limitations and

exceptions as described under “Description of the Notes—Certain Covenants.”

The Notes and the guarantees have not been, and will not be, registered under the

Securities Act or the securities laws of any other jurisdiction and may not be offered

or sold, except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the

registration requirements of the Securities Act. We have not agreed to, or otherwise
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undertaken to, register the Notes (including by way of an exchange offer).

Use of Proceeds .............ccoeevvennnnnn. The proceeds from the sale of the Notes have been used as set forth in “Use of
Proceeds.”
No Established Market for the The Notes are new securities for which there is no existing market. Although the
NOES.....oooveerierierieieeeece e initial purchasers have informed us that they intend to make a market in the Notes,

they are not obligated to do so and they may discontinue market-making at any time
without notice. Accordingly, we cannot assure you that a liquid market for the Notes
will develop or be maintained.

Listing .......ccocooviviiiiieieeeee Application has been made to list the Notes on the Official List of the Luxembourg
Stock Exchange, and to have the Notes admitted to trading on the Euro MTF market.
Governing Law..........c..cccoeceenennen. The Indenture, the Notes and the guarantees are governed by the laws of the State of

New York. The Intercreditor Deed is governed by English Law. The security
documents are governed by the applicable local law for each security interest as
described under “Description of the Collateral and the Guarantees.” The application
of the provisions of articles 84 to 94-8 of the Luxembourg law of 10 August 1915 on
commercial companies, as amended is hereby expressly excluded.

Trustee .....ccccvvvvveeiieiieeeeeeeeeeeeee The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch.
Principal Paying Agent and
Transfer Agent.................cce.... The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch.
Registrar, Luxembourg Transfer
Agent, Paying Agent and
Listing Agent .............ccccoevvvennnen. The Bank of New York Mellon SA/NV, Luxembourg Branch.
Security Trustee.............cceceevueennnen. Barclays Bank plc, as the security trustee under the Indenture and as the senior

security agent under the Intercreditor Deed.
Risk Factors
Investing in the Notes involves substantial risks. You should consider carefully all the information in this offering

memorandum and, in particular, you should evaluate the specific risk factors set forth in the “Risk Factors” section of this
offering memorandum before making a decision whether to invest in the Notes.
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SUMMARY HISTORICAL CONSOLIDATED AND OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following tables present the summary consolidated financial information and other financial information of
INEOS Group Holdings S.A. as of and for each of the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, which have been
extracted from (i) with respect to the information as of and for the year ended December 31, 2016, the audited consolidated
financial statements of INEOS Group Holdings S.A. as of and for the year ended December 31, 2016, (ii) with respect to
the information as of and for the year ended December 31, 2015, the audited consolidated financial statements of INEOS
Group Holdings S.A. as of and for the year ended December 31,2015 and (iii) with respect to the information as of and for
the year ended December 31, 2014, the audited consolidated financial statements of INEOS Group Holdings S.A. as of and
for the year ended December 31, 2014 unless indicated otherwise, in each case, included elsewhere in this offering
memorandum. Such consolidated financial statements of INEOS Group Holdings S.A. were prepared in accordance with
IFRS and have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers, Société coopérative.

In addition, the following tables also present the summary unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial
information and other financial information of INEOS Group Holdings S.A. as of June 30, 2017 and for each of the six
month periods ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, which have been extracted from the unaudited condensed consolidated
interim financial statements of INEOS Group Holdings S.A. as of June 30, 2017 and for the six month period ended
June 30, 2017, included elsewhere in this offering memorandum. Such information was prepared in accordance with
IAS 34, the standard of IFRS applicable to interim financial statements.

The unaudited financial information for the twelve months ended June 30, 2017 has been prepared by subtracting
the unaudited financial information of INEOS Group Holdings S.A. for the six month period ended June 30, 2016 extracted
from the unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements of INEOS Group Holdings S.A. as of June 30,
2017 and for the six month period ended June 30, 2017 including unaudited comparative financial information for the
six month period ended June 30, 2016 from the corresponding financial information of INEOS Group Holdings S.A. for
the year ended December 31, 2016 extracted from the audited consolidated financial statements of INEOS Group
Holdings S.A. as of and for the year ended December 31, 2016, and then adding the corresponding financial information of
INEOS Group Holdings S.A. for the six month period ended June 30, 2017 extracted from the unaudited condensed
consolidated interim financial statements of INEOS Group Holdings S.A. as of June 30, 2017 and for the six month period
ended June 30, 2017.

The unaudited financial information for the twelve months ended June 30, 2017 have not been prepared in
accordance with the requirements of Regulation S-X of the Securities Act, the Prospectus Directive or any generally
accepted accounting standards. Such financial information has not been audited or reviewed in accordance with any
generally accepted auditing standards. INEOS Group Holdings S.A.’s unaudited financial information for the twelve
months ended June 30, 2017 has been prepared for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily indicative of our results
of operations for any future period and is not prepared in the ordinary course of our financial reporting.

The tables below also include certain unaudited consolidated financial information that has been adjusted to give
pro forma effect to the Transactions as if the Transactions had taken place, with respect to pro forma net debt, on June 30,
2017, and, with respect to pro forma cash interest expense, on July 1, 2016. The unaudited consolidated pro forma financial
information has been prepared for illustrative purposes only and does not purport to represent what the actual consolidated
financial position would have been if the Transactions had occurred on June 30, 2017, with respect to pro forma net debt, or
July 1, 2016, with respect to pro forma cash interest expense, nor does it purport to project our consolidated financial
position at any future date. The unaudited pro forma financial information set forth in this offering memorandum is based
on available information and certain assumptions and estimates that we believe are reasonable but may differ from the
actual amounts.

You should read the information summarized below in conjunction with the information contained in
“Presentation of Financial and Non-IFRS Information,” “Use of Proceeds,” “Capitalization,” “Operating and Financial
Review and Prospects,” and the consolidated financial statements and the related notes to the financial statements of
INEOS Group Holdings S.A. included elsewhere in this offering memorandum.

For the six month

For the year ended December 31, period ended June 30,

For the
twelve month
period ended

2016 2015 2014 2017 2016 June 30, 2017
(€ in millions)
Income Statement:
Revenue...........ccccceoenenene 12,609.9 13,729.4 17,220.5 7,843.8 6,193.4 14,260.3
COSt OF SALES.errvverrreerrrenens (10,141.1)  (11,3184)  (15,173.9)  (6,382.2)  (4,970.6) (11,552.7)
GroSS Profit ceueeeenceneceennnns 2,468.8 2,411.0 2,046.6 1,461.6 1,222.8 2,707.6
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Distribution costs.................
Administrative expenses......
Operating profit.................

Total Share of profit/(loss)
of associates and jointly
controlled entities using
the equity accounting

method .......cooovvvviiiiiiinnn,

Profit/(loss) disposal of

fixed assets......ccccceeevveenn.

Loss on disposal of

businesses ........coevveeennenn.

Profit before net finance
costs

Net finance (costs)/income ...

Profit before tax from

continuing operations....
Tax charge ......ccocceeevevvenene.

Profit/(loss) for the period
from continuing

OPerations .......coeeeeeresnnes

. (195.3) (212.1) (203.8) (105.0) (108.2) (192.1)
. (406.9) (388.3) (396.2) (191.2) (181.6) (416.5)
. 1,866.6 1,810.6 1,446.6 1,165.4 933.0 2,099.0
. 29.3 74.4 (216.9) 70.8 (12.7) 112.8
. 3.7 3.8 (1.4) — 4.4 (0.7)
. — — (349.0) — — —

1,899.6 1,888.8 879.3 1,236.2 924.7 2,211.1

(326.0) (740.6) (593.1) 74.7 (61.3) (190.0)
) 1,573.6 1,148.2 286.2 1,310.9 863.4 2,021.1
. (340.2) (237.7) (322.9) (309.4) (261.8) (387.8)
. 1,233.4 910.5 (36.7) 1,001.5 601.6 1,633.3

Summary Statement of Cash Flows:

Cash flows provided by/(used in):
Operating aCtivitieS .......cvervrerveecveeeeniienieerieeeeseeseeneeenns
INVEStiNg ACtIVITICS ...evveereereeieeieeiie e
Financing activities .........cueveerveerierreseereeniieseeeieenenenns

Summary Balance Sheet:

Property, plant and equipment
Cash and cash equIValEnts ...........cccveruieiiirieiieeieeee e
Working capital™ .........ocoooiiiiiioeieeeee e
TOLAl ASSELS ...ttt

2

TOtal EQUILY ™ .ottt ettt s e e e s ae e es
Total interest-bearing loans and borrowings®
Total Indebtedness™ ..............cooovivieoeeeeeeeeeeeeee e
NEt Aebt™ ...

For the year ended December 31,

For the six month
period ended

June 30,

2016 2015

2014

2017

2016

(€ in millions)

2,278.2 1,987.9 1,421.5 1,041.6 1,026.3
(723.8)  (1,137.2)  (581.5) (348.9)  (336.2)
(1,087.5) (7052)  (645.6)  (1,468.5)  (242.9)
As of
As of December 31, June 30,
2016 2015 2014 2017

(€ in millions)

4,007.4  3,508.8
2,041  1,648.0
3,003.0  2,557.5

11,358.5  10,282.0

430.1  (564.2)
8,020.1 83003
8,066.9 83479
5862.8  6,699.9

3,067.5  3,986.4
14346 1,338.8
2,537.2  2,140.9
9,095.3  10,759.0

(12633)  1,021.4
7,707.8  6,539.1
7,757.0  6,565.6
63224 52268

For the six month

For the year ended period ended
December 31, June 30,
As of and
for the
twelve month
period ended
2016 2015 2014 2017 2016 June 30, 2017
(€ in millions)
Other Financial Information:
EBITDA before exceptionals®.............c.......... 2,330.8 22100 19035 1,390.3  1,124.7 2,596.4
Depreciation, amortization and impairment..... 442.9 383.4 394.2 224.9 191.7 476.1
Net cash interest expense”............cocoovvvunnn. 362.4 387.6 398.3 141.5 181.2 322.7
Capital expenditures™ ...........cooovviviviveenn. 691.9 454.0 411.4 358.5 384.7 665.7
Pro forma net debt " ..o 4,988.7
Pro forma net cash interest expense!' """ ... 208.6
Ratio of pro forma net debt to EBITDA
before exceptionals® 'Y ... 1.9x
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(1) Working capital represents net current assets (current assets less current liabilities).
2) Total equity excludes non-controlling interests.

3) Total interest-bearing loans and borrowings represents net loans and borrowings after deducting debt issuance costs as presented in note 20 to
the audited consolidated financial statements of INEOS Group Holdings S.A. as of and for the year ended December 31, 2016, included
elsewhere in this offering memorandum, and note 8 to the unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements of INEOS Group
Holdings S.A. as of and for the six month period ended June 30, 2017.

4) Total indebtedness represents long-term debt plus short-term debt, including finance lease obligations before deduction of unamortized debt
issuance costs. Under IFRS, debt issuance costs are deducted from the related debt amounts for the purposes of balance sheet presentation and
are amortized over the life of the debt.

5) Net debt represents total indebtedness less cash and cash equivalents.

(6) EBITDA before exceptionals represents operating profit before depreciation, amortization, impairment and exceptional charges. In
accordance with IFRS, we use both the FIFO and weighted average cost methods of accounting for purposes of determining our inventory cost
in connection with the preparation of our audited annual consolidated financial information. EBITDA before exceptionals is based on the FIFO
and weighted average cost methods of accounting for inventory used in connection with the preparation of such financial information.
EBITDA before exceptionals is derived from income statement line items calculated in accordance with IFRS on a historical cost basis.
Although our EBITDA-based measures should not be considered a substitute measure for operating profit, profit, cash flows from operating
activities or other measures of performance as defined by IFRS, we believe that they provide useful information regarding our ability to meet
future debt service requirements. The EBITDA-based measure presented may not be comparable to similarly titled measures used by other
companies. See “Presentation of Financial and Non-IFRS Information.”

The reconciliation of INEOS’ operating profit to EBITDA before exceptionals is as follows:

For the six month

For the year ended period ended
December 31, June 30,

For the
twelve month
period ended

2016 2015 2014 2017 2016 June 30, 2017
(€ in millions)
Operating profit..........cccccceoirveiininieininicieeeeecees 1,866.6 1,810.6 1,446.6 1,165.4 933.0 2,099.0
Depreciation, amortization and impairment . . 442.9 383.4 394.2 2249 191.7 476.1
Exceptional administrative expenses®.. . 21.3 16.0 62.7 — — 21.3
EBITDA before exceptionals ...........ccoceverenereeiereenennns 2,330.8 2,210.0 1,903.5 1,390.3 1,124.7 2,596.4
(a) Represents exceptional restructuring costs (including plant closure costs), as well as an arbitral award for damages of €19.6 million
in 2014, included in administrative expenses.
7) Net cash interest expense comprises interest payable on senior secured notes and senior notes, interest payable on bank loans and overdrafts,
interest payable on securitization and interest payable on finance leases, less interest income on bank balances.
(8) Capital expenditures represents payments to acquire property, plant and equipment as recorded on the consolidated cash flow statements for
the periods indicated.
) Pro forma net debt represents total indebtedness less cash and cash equivalents as adjusted for the Transactions.
(10) Gives pro forma effect to the Transactions as if the Transactions had taken place, with respect to pro forma net debt, on June 30, 2017, and,

with respect to pro forma cash interest expense, on July 1, 2016. For presentational purposes, euro equivalents of dollar-denominated
indebtedness have been converted using an exchange rate of $1.1426 per €1.00 which was the Bloomberg Composite Rate on June 30, 2017
used for our balance sheet as of June 30, 2017. The Bloomberg Composite Rate on November 14, 2017, was $1.1798 per €1.00. The unaudited
consolidated pro forma financial information has been prepared for illustrative purposes only and does not purport to represent what the actual
consolidated financial position would have been if the Transactions had occurred on June 30, 2017, with respect to pro forma net debt, or
July 1, 2016, with respect to pro forma cash interest expense, nor does it purport to project our consolidated financial position at any future
date. See “Capitalization” and “Use of Proceeds.”

(11) Pro forma net cash interest expense comprises cash interest paid on pro forma debt balances assuming that the Transactions had taken place on
July 1, 2016. Pro forma net cash interest expense is calculated as follows:

For the twelve month

period ended

June 30, 2017

(€ in millions)
Cash interest expense on Notes offered NEreby™ ..............cc.cooovuiruiuiieeeeeeeeeeeeee e 11.7
Cash interest expense on repriced existing bank borrowings®.. . 101.0
Cash interest expense on EXiSHNG NOES©) ..............covivimeeeieieeeeeeeeeeeee e eeen 90.4
Cash interest expense on Securitization PrOGIamL...........coueiviiiriiiiiiniiinieieie ettt 8.2
Cash interest expense on finance leases and on Noretyl Facility® .............o.coovvivioeierieeoeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 1.9



Interest iNCOME 0N DANK DAIANCES ..........ecuieieiieieiiite ittt ettt ettt e ebeeseestesse b e sseeseeseeseessessessesseeseessensensensesseeseeneas (4.6)
Pro forma net cash interest EXPEnSE.............co.ovovivieereeeeeeeeieeeeeeeeeeeeee e eeen 208.6

i

(@

(b)

(d)

(e)

Unless otherwise indicated, euro equivalents of U.S. dollar amounts are translated at an exchange rate of $1.1426 per €1.00, which
is the exchange rate used for our balance sheet as of June 30, 2017. The exchange rate of the euro on October 24,2017 was $1.1761
per €1.00.

Represents the cash interest expense in connection with the debt incurred under the Notes.

Represents the cash interest expense on Senior Secured Term Loans after giving effect to the Refinancing and the Repricing, as
defined in “Transactions”, assuming LIBOR of 1.36% and EURIBOR of 0% throughout the period.

Represents cash interest expense on the 2023 Senior Secured Notes and 2024 IGH Notes.
Includes the cash interest payable on the Noretyl Facility at the applicable interest rate from July 1, 2016.

Pro forma net cash interest expense is based on current interest rates. Debt under the Senior Secured Term Loans and the
Securitization Program is floating rate debt. After giving effect to the Transactions as of July 1, 2016, such floating rate debt
represented €3,822.1 million, or 60.5%, of our total loans and borrowings as of June 30, 2017, translating U.S. dollar amounts at an
exchange rate of $1.1426 per €1.00.
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RISK FACTORS

Risks Relating to Our Businesses and Industries

Cyclicality of the petrochemical industry—Changing market demands and prices may negatively affect our operating
margins and impair our cash flows, which, in turn, could affect our ability to make payments on our debt or to make
further investments in our businesses.

Cyclicality and volatility in supply and demand in the petrochemical industry may affect our prices and may
negatively impact our operating margins and cash flows and cause us to incur losses. For example, if industry margins in
the petrochemical industry were to return to their 2001 or fourth quarter of 2008 levels or decline more significantly than
they have in the past, then this may result in a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and cash flow.
Any cyclical downturn may affect our prices and may negatively impact our operating margins and cash flows and cause us
to incur losses. Furthermore, increased volatility in industry margins could have a significant impact on our short-term
results. In such cases, we would have to absorb any losses or borrow additional funds. If we experience significant margin
volatility or if we generate losses over a prolonged period and are unable to obtain additional funds, our liquidity could be
materially adversely affected and our ability to make debt payments would be impaired.

The relationship between supply and demand in the petrochemical industry in general, and in our various
petrochemical segments historically, has been highly cyclical. This is primarily because product supply is driven by
alternating periods of substantial capacity additions and periods in which no or limited capacity is added. Historically, the
markets for some of our products have tended to follow trends in economic growth and have experienced alternating
periods of constrained supply, causing prices and margins to increase, followed by periods of capacity additions, resulting
in oversupply and declining prices and margins. In response, companies typically reduce capacity or limit further capacity
additions, eventually causing the market to be relatively undersupplied. Any slowdown in growth for any reason could have
a disproportionately negative effect on industry margins for our petrochemical products. For a discussion of the current
market environment, see “Industry and Market Overview—Olefins & Polyolefins—Market Environment” and “Industry
and Market Overview—Chemical Intermediates—Market Environment.”

Historically, margins in the petrochemical industry have been volatile due to a number of factors, most of which
are beyond our control. These factors include:

»  short-term utilization rate fluctuations due to planned and unplanned plant outages;

» political and economic conditions, which drive rapid changes in prices for our key feedstocks, including the
price of crude oil, gas and naphtha;

*  customers’ inventory management policies; and

*  exchange rate fluctuations.

In addition, we and other petrochemical companies with large asset bases in Europe face pressures due to the fact
that many of our key customers in Europe are subject to competition with low-cost producers in Asia. If our European
customers are unable to successfully compete with Asian manufacturers, they could reduce their volume of purchases,
including from us, or cease making such purchases altogether. To a lesser extent we are also exposed to the risk of our
customers in North America being unable to compete in the global marketplace. Each of these risks could materially
adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Raw materials and suppliers—If we are unable to pass on increases in raw material prices, or to retain or replace our
key suppliers, our results of operations may be negatively affected.

Our margins are largely a function of the relationship between the prices that we are able to charge for our
products and the costs of the feedstocks we require to make these products. The prices for a large portion of our raw
materials are cyclical. Prices fell significantly at the end of 2008, before gradually increasing from 2009 to 2011. Prices
remained broadly stable during 2012 to the second half of 2014, after which the crude oil and product prices declined
significantly. After a brief rise in prices in the first half of 2015, prices continued to decline in the second half of the year.
Prices rose during 2016 and remained broadly stable thereafter.

While we attempt to match raw material price increases with corresponding product price increases, our ability to
pass on increases in the cost of raw materials to our customers is, to a large extent, dependent upon our contractual
arrangements and market conditions. There may be periods of time during which we are not able to recover increases in the
cost of raw materials due to our contractual arrangements or to weakness in demand for, or oversupply of, our products.
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Specifically, timing differences in pricing between raw material prices, which may change daily, and product prices, which
in many cases are negotiated only monthly or less often, sometimes with an additional lag in effective dates for increases,
have had and may continue to have a negative effect on profitability. Even in periods during which raw material prices
decline, we may suffer decreasing profits if raw material price reductions occur at a slower rate than decreases in the selling
prices of our products. In addition, when raw material costs decrease, customers may seek relief in the form of lower sales
prices. Furthermore, some of our customers take advantage of fluctuating prices by building inventories when they expect
product prices to increase and reducing inventories when they expect product prices to decrease.

Further, volatility in costs and pricing can result in commercial disputes with customers and suppliers with respect
to interpretations of complex contractual arrangements. Significant adverse resolution of any such disputes could also
reduce our profitability.

We obtain a significant portion of our raw materials from selected key suppliers. If any of these suppliers is unable
to meet its obligations under present supply agreements, we may be forced to pay higher prices to obtain the necessary raw
materials and we may not be able to increase prices for our finished products. Therefore, volatility in raw material prices or
interruptions in supply could place increased pressure on our margins and reduce our cash flow, which could impair our
ability to make debt payments or make further investments in our business.

If we fail to maintain our relationships with our current suppliers, our suppliers offer pricing and other terms that
are not satisfactory to us or a supplier fails to supply raw materials that meet our quality, quantity and cost requirements, we
may be unable to fill our customers’ orders on a timely and cost-effective basis or in the required quantities, which could
result in order cancellations, decreased revenues or loss of market share and damage to our reputation.

Global economy—Our industry is affected by global economic factors including risks associated with a recession and
our customers’ access to credit.

We face risks attendant to changes in consumer demand for goods that incorporate our products, economic
environments, changes in interest rates and instability in securities markets around the world, among other factors. In
particular, a worsening economic climate can result in decreased industrial output and decreased consumer demand for
products including automobiles, consumer goods and building materials, all of which incorporate our products. Adverse
economic conditions can affect consumer and business spending generally, which would result in decreased demand for
goods that incorporate our products and have an adverse effect on our results of operations.

Our financial results are substantially dependent upon the overall economic conditions in the United States, the
European Union and Asia. An extended recession in any of these locations or globally—or public perceptions that result in
declining economic conditions—could substantially decrease the demand for our products and adversely affect our
business. For example, as a result of an economic downturn, in 2008 and 2009, we experienced decreased demand for many
of our products. Moreover, many of our customers rely on access to credit to adequately fund their operations. The inability
of our customers to access credit facilities may adversely affect our business by reducing our sales, increasing our exposure
to accounts receivable bad debts and reducing our profitability.

Currency fluctuations—We are exposed to currency fluctuation risks in several countries that could adversely affect
our profitability.

Although we report our results in euro, we conduct a significant portion of our business in countries that use
currencies other than the euro, and we are subject to risks associated with currency fluctuations.

Our results of operations may be affected by both the transaction effects and the translation effects of foreign
currency exchange rate fluctuations. We are exposed to transaction effects when one of our subsidiaries incurs costs or
earns revenue in a currency different from its functional currency. Fluctuations in exchange rates may also affect the
relative competitive position of our manufacturing facilities, as well as our ability to market our products successfully in
other markets. We are exposed to currency fluctuation when we convert currencies that we may receive for our products
into currencies required to pay our debt, or into currencies in which we purchase raw materials, meet our fixed costs or pay
for services, which could result in a gain or loss depending on fluctuations in exchange rates. In particular, a large
proportion of our manufacturing costs and our selling, general and administrative expenses are incurred in currencies other
than the euro, principally the U.S. dollar and the British pound, reflecting the location of our sites and corporate and
business support centers. At the same time, although many of our sales are invoiced in currencies other than the euro, our
consolidated revenues are reported in euro. Therefore, our financial results in any given period are materially affected by
fluctuations in the value of the euro relative to the U.S. dollar, British pound and other relevant currencies. If the value of
the euro declines against currencies in which our obligations are denominated or increases against currencies in which our
revenues are denominated, our results of operations and financial condition could be materially affected.
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This could include the possibility of an increase in the amount of our U.S. dollar-denominated indebtedness when
converted into euro, as was the case in 2014 and 2015 when the value of the euro relative to the U.S. dollar declined
significantly and in the first half of 2017, as compared to the first half of 2016, when the value of the U.S. dollar relative to
the euro increased by approximately 3%.

International operations—We are exposed to risks related to conducting operations in several different countries.

We currently have manufacturing facilities located in the United Kingdom, the United States, Germany, Belgium,
Norway and Canada. Notwithstanding the benefits of geographic diversification, our business is subject to risks related to
the differing legal, political, social and regulatory requirements and economic conditions of many jurisdictions. Risks
inherent in international operations include the following:

»  general economic, social or political conditions in the countries in which we operate could have an adverse
effect on our earnings from operations in those countries;

« compliance with a variety of laws and regulations in various jurisdictions may be burdensome;
* unexpected or adverse changes in laws or regulatory requirements in various jurisdictions may occur;

« the imposition of withholding taxes or other taxes or royalties on our income, or the adoption of other
restrictions on foreign trade or investment, including currency exchange controls;

» adverse changes in export duties, quotas and tariffs and difficulties in obtaining export licenses;
* intellectual property rights may be more difficult to enforce;

» transportation and other shipping costs may increase;

» staffing difficulties, national or regional labor strikes or other labor disputes;

* the imposition of any price controls; and

difficulties in enforcing agreements and collecting receivables.

Competition—We face significant competition in our industries, whether through efforts of new or current competitors
or through consolidation of existing customers, which may adversely affect our competitive position, sales and overall
operations.

The markets for most of our products are highly competitive. We are exposed to the competitive characteristics of
several different geographic markets and industries. Competition in most of our industries is based primarily on price and,
to a lesser extent, on product performance, product quality, product deliverability and customer service. Our principal
competitors vary from business to business and range from large global petrochemical companies to numerous smaller
regional companies. Some of our competitors are larger and more vertically integrated than we are and therefore may be
able to manufacture products more economically than we can. In addition, some of our competitors have greater financial,
technical, research and technology and marketing resources than we do. Furthermore, some of our competitors are fully or
partially state-owned and could have broader goals than maximizing profits, such as investing in the economies of their
respective countries and providing local employment and therefore may continue to provide capacity and products even at
unprofitable price points creating downward pricing pressure on our products. As the markets for our products expand, we
expect that existing competitors may commit more resources to the markets in which we operate, further enhancing
competition. All of the above could hinder our ability to compete effectively in the markets in which we operate in the
future and our competitive position and results of operations may suffer as a result. For example, in the petrochemical
industry in Europe, where the majority of our petrochemical assets are concentrated, and, to a lesser extent, in North
America, we face competitive pressures from companies with facilities in the Middle East, which enjoy substantial cost
advantages due to access to low-cost gas feedstock available in this region. In addition, our export business in Europe faces
competitive pressures from export businesses in North America (including our own North American operations) due to the
abundance and use of low-cost ethane in North America. These cost advantages are particularly significant when oil prices
are high, as has sometimes been the case in recent years. The competitive pressure we experience could be exacerbated if
the Chinese economy fails to grow as expected, in which case more of the product manufactured in the Middle East to meet
the growth expected in China could be redirected to Europe and North America, potentially resulting in greater supply to
these markets and corresponding downward pricing pressure.
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In addition, a number of our customers are participants in industries that are undergoing consolidation. We could
lose these customers to competitors if they are acquired by, or consolidate with, other companies that have relationships
with our competitors.

Customers—We are subject to the risk of loss resulting from nonpayment or nonperformance by our customers.

Our credit procedures and policies may not be adequate to minimize or mitigate customer credit risk. Our
customers may experience financial difficulties, including bankruptcies, restructurings and liquidations. These and other
financial problems that may be experienced by our customers, as well as potential financial weakness in our industry, may
increase our risk in extending trade credit to customers. A significant adverse change in a customer relationship or in a
customer’s financial position could cause us to limit or discontinue business with that customer, require us to assume more
credit risk relating to that customer’s receivables or limit our ability to collect accounts receivable from that customer, all of
which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and liquidity.

Refining Divestiture—We are dependent on contractual arrangements with the Refining and Entrepreneurial JVs for
naphtha and if we are unable to obtain this feedstock from these entities, our businesses could be adversely affected.

On July 1, 2011, we disposed of the Refining Business and the Entrepreneurial (Refining) Business to the
Refining and Entrepreneurial JVs. In addition, we disposed of the Infrastructure Entity to the Refining Business JV (50.0%)
and INEOS Investments (50.0%). See “Business—Refining Divestiture, Grangemouth Divestiture and Lavéra
Divestiture—The Refining Divestiture” for a more detailed discussion of the Refining Divestiture.

We have entered into several contractual arrangements with the Refining and Entrepreneurial JVs to allow the

INEOS Group to continue to receive the requisite feedstocks and access to entrepreneurial activities and utilities services.
However, there is no guarantee that (i) the Refining and Entrepreneurial JVs will deliver the requisite feedstocks or access
to entrepreneurial activities or utilities services, set forth in the contractual arrangements, (i) we will be able to find other
suppliers to cover any shortfalls in the feedstock supplies, entrepreneurial activities or utilities services that we require and
(iii) any agreements we enter into with other suppliers will be on terms as favorable as those under the agreements that have
been executed with the Refining and Entrepreneurial JVs. See “Business—Refining Divestiture, Grangemouth Divestiture
and Lavéra Divestiture—The Refining Divestiture.”

To ensure that the companies in the INEOS Group retain access to the naphtha feedstock provided by the Refining
and Entrepreneurial JVs, we have entered into a long-term agreement with the Refining and Entrepreneurial JVs for the
continued provision of the naphtha supply that we have historically received from the Refining Business, on substantially
similar commercial terms as those that governed the inter-INEOS Group transfer for the supply of naphtha previously.

Grangemouth Divestiture—We face a risk of loss if the divested operations are unable to repay the affiliate loan facility
extended to the related party.

On October 1, 2013, the Group transferred the shares of INEOS Chemicals Grangemouth Limited and INEOS
Commercial Services UK Limited (including the assets, liabilities (including pension liabilities) and petrochemical
business) to INEOS Grangemouth plc (formerly INEOS Grangemouth Limited), a newly created subsidiary of INEOS
Holdings AG, our indirect parent company. The business redomiciled in the U.K. and became eligible for support under the
U.K. government’s Infrastructure Guarantee Scheme, which it has taken advantage of in relation to borrowings made to
fund investment at the site. INEOS Grangemouth plc currently holds approximately € 50.0 million in a bank account which
is pledged in favor of the U.K. government as security against the repayment of such borrowings under the Infrastructure
Guarantee Scheme. The survival plan required an improvement in the cost base at the site and a significant investment in
new infrastructure to allow the site to import gas from the U.S. These facilities were completed during 2016 and the first
shipment of ethane gas arrived from the U.S. into Grangemouth in September 2016.

As part of this plan, the Group had put in place a €200 million affiliate loan facility from the Group to the
Grangemouth petrochemical business for, inter alia, its general corporate requirements. Although this loan facility was
fully repaid in July 2017, its terms were amended to allow for future drawdowns.

Although during the period from 2014 to the first half of 2017 the Grangemouth petrochemical business has
delivered stronger financial performance than estimated in the original business case for the survival plan, if the long-term
outcome of the plan is unsuccessful, INEOS Grangemouth plc may be unable to repay the outstanding balance (if any) on
the affiliate loan facility, resulting in losses for the Group. See “Business—Refining Divestiture, Grangemouth Divestiture
and Lavéra Divestiture—The Grangemouth Divestiture.”
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Acquisition of DEA UK, certain subsidiaries of Fairfield Energy and DONG Energy A/S Oil & Gas business by INEOS
Upstream Limited—We face a risk of loss if INEOS Upstream Limited is unable to repay the loans extended to the
related party.

INEOS Upstream Limited has acquired natural gas assets in the North Sea from a U.K. subsidiary of DEA
Deutsche Erdoel AG, which is part of the LetterOne Group and from Fairfield Energy (collectively, the “2015 Upstream
Acquisitions”) by way of acquiring certain of its subsidiaries. INEOS Upstream Limited is a wholly-owned, oil and gas
subsidiary of INEOS Limited, thereby making it an affiliate of ours. In connection with the 2015 Upstream Acquisitions,
the Group has advanced a loan of $625 million to INEOS Upstream Limited, the proceeds of which have been on-lent to
certain of its subsidiaries. The loan is unsecured and has maturities in December 2020. As at June 30, 2017, the total
amount outstanding on the 2015 Upstream Acquisitions loan was $487.4 million.

On September 29, 2017, INEOS Upstream Limited acquired further natural gas assets in the North Sea through its
acquisition of the entire oil and gas business of DONG Energy A/S (the “DONG Acquisition”). In connection with the
DONG Acquisition, the Group advanced a loan of $376.2 million to INEOS Upstream Limited, the proceeds of which were
on-lent to certain of its subsidiaries. The loan is unsecured and matures in June 2022.

In the event that INEOS Upstream Limited is unable to repay the 2015 Upstream Acquisitions loan or the DONG
Acquisition loan, the Group will suffer losses as a result.

Inability to maximize utilization of assets—We may be adversely affected if we are unable to implement our strategy to
maximize utilization of assets.

Our results of operations are materially influenced by the degree to which we utilize our assets in order to achieve
maximum production volumes. We cannot guarantee that we will be able to implement our strategy of maximizing
utilization of assets in accordance with our plans or at all. For example, the number and length of turnarounds (scheduled
outages of a unit in order to perform necessary inspections, tests to comply with industry regulations and any maintenance
activities that may be necessary) and unplanned outages have had, and may in the future have, an impact on our operating
results, even if such outages are covered by insurance.

Joint ventures—Several of our petrochemical facilities are owned and operated in joint ventures with third parties. We
do not control these joint ventures, and actions taken by our joint venture partners in respect of these joint ventures
could materially adversely affect our business.

Several of our petrochemical facilities are owned and operated in whole or part by joint ventures with one or more
third parties. These facilities include Cedar Bayou in Texas, which is operated by Chevron Phillips Chemical
Company LLC (“Chevron Phillips”) in a 50/50 joint venture with Chevron Phillips. We also entered into a joint venture
with Sasol Limited named Ineos Gemini HDPE Co LLC to construct a facility to manufacture high-density polyethylene
(“HDPE”), which is expected to be operational by the end of 2017. While we have a certain amount of influence over each
of these joint ventures, we do not control them and are therefore dependent on our respective joint venture partners to
cooperate with us in making decisions regarding the relevant joint venture. Moreover, the day-to-day operation of the
relevant facilities is the responsibility of the management team of the joint venture or our joint venture partner. Therefore,
our ability to influence these operations on a day to day basis is limited and we may be unable to prevent actions that we
believe are not in the best interests of our joint ventures or our company as a whole. Any such actions could materially
adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Climate change—EXxisting and proposed regulations to address climate change by limiting greenhouse gas emissions
may cause us to incur significant additional operating and capital expenses.

Our operations result in emissions of greenhouse gases (“GHGs”), such as carbon dioxide and methane. Growing
concern about the sources and impacts of global climate change has led to a number of regional, national and supranational
legislative and administrative measures, both proposed and enacted, to monitor, regulate and limit carbon dioxide and other
GHG emissions. In the EU, our emissions are regulated under the European Union Emissions Trading System (“EU ETS”),
an EU-wide trading system for industrial GHG emissions. The EU ETS is expected to continue to become progressively
more stringent over time, including by reducing the number of allowances to emit GHG, including those that EU member
states will allocate without charge to industrial facilities. Such measures could result in increased costs for us to: (i) operate
and maintain our facilities; (ii) install new emission controls; (iii) purchase or otherwise obtain allowances to emit GHGs;
and (iv) administer and manage our GHG emissions program.

In the United States, we are required to monitor and report to the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”)
annual GHG emissions from certain of our U.S. facilities. In addition, EPA has promulgated regulations under the Clean
Air Act (“CAA”) which subject the GHG emissions of certain newly constructed or modified facilities to pre-construction
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and operating permitting requirements. Pursuant to these requirements, newly constructed or modified facilities with the
potential to emit certain quantities of GHGs are required to implement “best available control technology,” which can
include carbon efficiency standards, GHG emission concentration limits, specific technology requirements or other
measures. Significant uncertainty exists as to how newer or stricter GHG regulations will in the future impact large
stationary sources, such as our facilities in the United States, and what costs or operational changes these regulations may
require.

In addition, EPA has issued final regulations under the CAA that establish air emission controls for oil and natural
gas production and natural gas processing operations, including New Source Performance Standards to address emissions
of sulfur dioxide and volatile organic compounds, or VOCs. EPA has also issued a request for data and information relating
to a separate set of emission standards to address hazardous air pollutants frequently associated with oil and natural gas
production and processing activities in 2016, but withdrew such request in March 2017 under the new Trump
administration. Significant uncertainty exists as to future regulation of these activities under the CAA. We continue to
monitor the situation closely.

At the international level, many nations have agreed to limit emissions of GHGs pursuant to the United Nations
Framework Convention on Climate Change, also known as the “Kyoto Protocol.” Methane, a primary component of
natural gas, and carbon dioxide, a byproduct of the burning of oil, natural gas, and refined petroleum products, are GHGs
addressed by the Kyoto Protocol. Although the United States is not participating in the Kyoto Protocol at this time, a
number of EU nations are signatories. Furthermore, in December 2009, 27 nations, including the United States and China,
signed the Copenhagen Accord, which includes a non-binding commitment to reduce GHG emissions. As a result of
commitments made at the UN climate conference in Durban, South Africa in December 2011, certain members of the
international community negotiated a treaty at the December 2015 Conference of Parties in Paris. This Paris Agreement,
which entered into force in November 2016, will require developed countries to set targets for emissions reductions once
the Agreement is adopted by those individual countries within their respective national or federal law. Additional measures
addressing GHG emissions may also be implemented, including, for example, the EU’s proposal to consider raising its
commitment to reduce carbon emissions by 2020 from a 20% to a 30% reduction.

In addition, the U.S. Congress has from time to time considered adopting legislation to reduce emissions of GHGs
and almost one-half of U.S. states have already taken legal measures to reduce emissions of GHGs primarily through the
planned development of GHG emission inventories and or/regional GHG gas cap-and-trade programs. Although the U.S.
Congress has not adopted such legislation at this time, it may do so in the future, along with other countries (in addition to
the EU), and we cannot yet predict the form such regulation will take (such as a cap-and-trade program, technology
mandate, emissions tax or other regulatory mechanism) or, consequently, estimate any costs that we may be required to
incur in respect of such requirements, for example, to install emissions control equipment, purchase emissions allowances,
administer and manage our GHG emissions program, or address other regulatory obligations. Such requirements could also
adversely affect our energy supply, or the costs (and types) of raw materials we use for fuel. For example, in August 2015,
EPA released a final version of the Clean Power Plan, which seeks to reduce GHG emissions from power plants. This rule
was stayed in February 2016 pending the resolution of various legal challenges and, in October 2017, EPA announced a
proposal to repeal the Clean Power Plan. Whether or not these, or different, regulations controlling or limiting GHG
emissions could be enacted in the future can not be predicted at this time, but any such requirements could have a material
adverse impact on our business, financial condition or results of operations, including by reducing demand for our
products.

Environmental matters—We will have ongoing costs and may have substantial obligations and liabilities arising from
health, safety, security and environmental (“HSSE”) laws, regulations and permits applicable to our operations.

Our businesses are subject to a wide range of HSSE laws and regulations in all of the jurisdictions in which we
operate. These requirements govern our facilities and our operations, including the manufacture, storage, handling,
treatment, transportation and disposal of hazardous substances and wastes, wastewater discharges, air emissions (including
GHG emissions), noise emissions, operation and closure of landfills, human health and safety, process safety and risk
management and the clean up of contaminated sites. Many of our operations require permits and controls to monitor or
prevent pollution, and these permits are subject to modification, renewal and revocation by issuing authorities. We have
incurred, and will continue to incur, substantial ongoing capital and operating expenditures to ensure compliance with
current and future HSSE laws, regulations and permits or the enforcement of such requirements.

We expect that our operations will be subject in the future to new and increasingly stringent HSSE laws,
regulations and permits and that substantial costs will be incurred by us to ensure continued compliance. We anticipate that
these laws, regulations and permits will continue to require us to incur substantial costs and impose additional operating
and capital obligations. If we do not predict accurately the amount or timing of costs of any future compliance, remediation
requirements or private claims, our environmental provisions may be inadequate and the related impact on our business,
financial condition or results of operations in any period in which such costs need to be incurred could be material. Given
the nature of our business, violations of HSSE requirements, whether currently alleged or arising in the future, may result in
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substantial fines or penalties, the imposition of other civil or criminal sanctions, cleanup costs, claims for personal injury or
property damages, the installation of costly pollution control equipment, or restrictions on, or the suspension of, our
operating permits or activities.

At certain sites where we operate, regulators have alleged or we have otherwise learned that these sites may be in
noncompliance with HSSE laws and/or the permits which authorize operations at these sites. Some of these allegations or
instances of noncompliance are ongoing, and substantial amounts may need to be spent to attain and/or maintain
compliance. In addition, we have in the past paid, and in the future may pay, penalties to resolve such matters. Our
businesses and facilities have experienced, and in certain cases, are in the process of investigating or remediating,
hazardous materials in the soil and groundwater at locations where we operate and/or adjacent properties and/or natural
resources at public and private lands not owned by us.

Many of our sites have an extended history of industrial chemical processing, storage and related activities, and
may currently be subject to engineering or institutional controls or restrictions or may become subject to such controls or
restrictions in the future. We are currently, and from time to time have been or may be, required to investigate and
remediate releases of hazardous materials or contamination at or migrating from certain of these sites, as well as properties
we formerly owned, leased or operated. We are, and in the future may be, responsible for investigating and cleaning up
contamination at off-site locations where we or our predecessors disposed of or arranged for the disposal or treatment of
hazardous wastes. Under some environmental laws, including the U.S. Comprehensive Environmental Response,
Compensation and Liability Act, commonly referred to as “Superfund,” liability can be imposed retroactively, without
regard to fault or knowledge, and on a joint and several basis. In addition, we also could be subject to claims by government
authorities, individuals and other third parties seeking damages for alleged personal injury or property or natural resource
damages resulting from environmental contamination or hazardous exposure caused by our operations, facilities or
products. The discovery of previously unknown contamination, or the imposition of new obligations to investigate or
remediate contamination at our facilities, could result in substantial unanticipated costs. We could be required to establish
or substantially increase financial reserves for such obligations or liabilities and, if we fail to accurately predict the amount
or timing of such costs, the related impact on our business, financial condition or results of operations in any period in
which such costs need to be incurred could be material. In addition, HSSE laws and regulations can impose various
financial responsibility requirements on us, and pursuant to these requirements we may be required to post bonds, create
trust funds or provide other assurances that we will be able to address contamination at our sites and comply with our
decommissioning obligations once our facilities reach the end of their useful lives.

Our operations involve the intensive use of hazardous materials and we have been from time to time subject to
claims made for damage to property or injury, including adverse health effects, to employees and other persons, resulting
from our operations. Claims made in the future could have a material adverse effect on our reputation, business, financial
condition or results of operations.

Our financial results may be adversely affected if environmental liability arises for which we are not adequately
indemnified, or from a disposal of assets or businesses for which we provided a seller’s indemnification in respect thereof.
Although we believe that the indemnities given by the selling parties from whom we have acquired assets or businesses will
help defray the costs associated with pre-acquisition environmental liabilities, our financial results may still be adversely
affected to the extent that:

» the sellers do not fulfill their respective indemnification obligations;

* we breach our obligations not to undertake certain activities that may aggravate existing conditions or to
mitigate associated losses;

* we incur indemnification obligations for other environmental liabilities owed as part of certain disposals of
assets or businesses; or

* we incur significant costs for pre-acquisition conditions that are not covered by the indemnities.
Potential hazards—Our operations are subject to hazards which could result in significant liability to us.

Our operations are subject to hazards associated with chemical manufacturing and the related use, storage,
transportation and disposal of raw materials, products and wastes. These hazards include explosions, fires, severe weather
(including but not limited to hurricanes on the U.S. Gulf Coast or other adverse weather that may be increasing as a result of
climate change) and natural disasters, accidents, mechanical failures, discharges or releases of toxic or hazardous
substances or gases, transportation interruptions, human error, pipeline leaks and ruptures and terrorist activities. These
hazards can cause personal injury and loss of life, severe damage to or destruction of property and equipment as well as
environmental damage, and may result in suspension of operations and the imposition of civil and criminal liabilities,
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including penalties and damage awards. While we believe our insurance policies are in accordance with customary industry
practices, such insurance may not cover all risks associated with the hazards of our business and is subject to limitations,
including deductibles and maximum liabilities covered. We may incur losses beyond the limits, or outside the coverage, of
our insurance policies, including liabilities for environmental violations and contamination. In addition, from time to time,
various types of insurance for companies in our industries have not been available on commercially acceptable terms or, in
some cases, have not been available at all. In the future, we may not be able to obtain coverage at current levels, and our
premiums may increase significantly on coverage that we maintain. Costs associated with unanticipated events in excess of
our insurance coverage could have a material adverse effect on our business, competitive or financial position or our
ongoing results of operations. For additional related disclosure, see “Business—Health, Safety, Security and
Environment.”

Third parties—Qur business and operations are subject to business interruption risks due to the actions of third parties,
which could have a material adverse effect on our business, reputation, financial condition and results of operations.

Due to the nature of our business, we are at risk of business interruption due to the actions of third parties. For
example, many of our vendors and subcontractors have operations that are also subject to HSSE risks associated with the
use of hazardous materials. Any future HSSE-related incidents affecting our vendors and subcontractors may result in
significant regulatory actions, fines and other penalties, including restrictions, prohibitions or sanctions on their operations,
and could impair their ability to perform their contracts with us or could otherwise subject us to liability, all of which could
have a material adverse effect on our business, reputation, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, if any
facilities experience damage due to any number of hazards caused by third parties, our reputation, business and results of
operations may be adversely affected.

Product stewardship regulation—Our business could be adversely affected by chemical safety regulation of our
products and raw materials.

We use and manufacture hazardous chemicals that are subject to regulation by the EU and by many national,
provincial and local governmental authorities in the countries in which we operate. In order to obtain regulatory approval of
certain new products and production processes, we must, among other things, demonstrate to the relevant authorities that
the product is safe for its intended uses and that we are capable of manufacturing the product in accordance with applicable
regulations. The process of seeking approvals can be time-consuming and subject to unanticipated and significant delays.
Approvals may not be granted to us on a timely basis, or at all. Any delay in obtaining, or any failure to obtain or maintain,
these approvals would adversely affect our ability to introduce new products, to continue distributing existing products and
to generate revenue from those products, which could have a material adverse effect on our business and prospects. New
laws and regulations may be introduced in the future that could result in additional compliance costs, confiscation, recall or
monetary fines, any of which could prevent or inhibit the development, distribution and sale of our products.

In addition, some of our products (including our raw materials) are subject to extensive environmental and
industrial hygiene regulations governing the registration and safety analysis of their component substances. For example, in
connection with the EU’s Registration, Evaluation and Authorization of Chemicals (“REACH”) Regulation or the EU’s
Classification, Labelling and Packaging (“CLP”’) Regulation, any key raw material, chemical or substance, including our
products, could be classified as having a toxicological or health-related impact on the environment, users of our products,
or our employees. We manufacture, process, or use a number of substances classified as substances of very high concern
under REACH, and the continued use of these substances may require authorization from the European Chemicals Agency
(“ECHA”). If we cannot obtain authorization, we may need to discontinue use of such substances.

In June 2016, amendments to the U.S. Toxic Substances Control Act (“TSCA”) became law. While the full impact
of these amendments to TSCA remains uncertain, it is possible that they could trigger risk screening of certain of our
products by EPA, and this risk screening could lead to new or more stringent regulatory obligations and/or restrictions,
including, potentially, prohibitions on manufacture and sale of certain products. On December 19, 2016, EPA published a
list of ten chemical substances that are the subject of EPA’s initial chemical risk evaluations, as required by TSCA. This list
includes multiple chemicals we manufacture, including carbon tetrachloride and methylene chloride.

In Ontario, Canada, the Toxics Reduction Act requires reduction in the use of toxic substances. Among other
things, this statute requires tracking, public toxic substance reduction plans and reporting. Similar regulations are being
considered in other jurisdictions, including the United States, which could result in additional requirements, including
testing and record-keeping obligations, on our operations.

For example, butadiene is a known carcinogen in laboratory animals at high doses and is being studied for its
potential adverse human health effects. The U.S. Occupational Safety and Health Administration currently limits the
permissible employee exposure to butadiene. If studies on the health effects of butadiene result in additional regulations in
the United States or new regulations in Europe that further restrict or prohibit the use of, and exposure to, butadiene, we
could be required to change our operations, which could affect the quality of our products and increase our costs.
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The regulation or reclassification of any of our raw materials or products could adversely affect the availability or
marketability of such products, result in a ban on its import, purchase or sale, or require us to incur increased costs to
comply with notification, labeling or handling requirements, each of which could result in a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

Litigation—We are subject to certain risks related to litigation filed by or against us, and adverse results may harm our
business.

We cannot predict with certainty the cost of defense, the cost of prosecution or the ultimate outcome of litigation
and other proceedings filed by or against us, including remedies or damage awards, and adverse results in any litigation and
other proceedings may materially harm our business. Litigation and other proceedings may include, but are not limited to,
actions relating to intellectual property, commercial arrangements, environmental, health and safety, joint venture
agreements, labor and employment or other harms resulting from the actions of individuals or entities outside of our
control. In the case of intellectual property litigation and proceedings, adverse outcomes could include the cancellation,
invalidation or other loss of material intellectual property rights used in our business and injunctions prohibiting our use of
business processes or technology that are subject to third-party patents or other third-party intellectual property rights.
Litigation based on environmental matters or human exposure to hazardous substances in the workplace or from our
products could result in significant liability for us. Adverse outcomes could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Product liability—We may be liable for damages based on product liability claims.

The sale of our products involves the risk of product liability claims arising out of the use of, or exposure to, our
products or the chemicals in them. While most of our products have some hazardous properties, some of them, such as
acrylonitrile, require specialized handling procedures due to their acute and chronic toxicity. Furthermore, our polymer
products have widespread end uses in a variety of consumer industries, including food packaging and medical applications.
A successful product liability claim or series of claims against us in excess of our insurance coverage for payments for
which we are not otherwise indemnified or have not otherwise provided could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition or results of operations and cash flows. In particular, we could be required to increase our debt
or divert resources from other investments in our business in order to discharge any such claims.

In addition, we have licensed our polyethylene, polypropylene, polystyrene, polyvinylchloride, vinyl chloride
monomer, ethylene dichloride and acrylonitrile technologies to third parties. Generally, our licensing agreements provide
that any liability arising from the implementation of such technology is retained by us during the first 18 months of the
agreements. As a result, we are liable for any damages arising from the implementation by our licensees of our technology
during this period.

Key personnel—Qur success depends on the continued service of certain key personnel.

Our success depends in significant part upon the continued service of our shareholders, directors and senior
management, including James Ratcliffe, Andrew Currie and John Reece and the executive officers at each of our business
divisions. In addition, our future growth and success also depends on our ability to attract, train, retain and motivate skilled
managerial, sales, administration, operating and technical personnel. We generally do not have employment agreements
with, and we do not maintain any “key man” life insurance for, any member of our senior management. The loss of one or
more of our key management or operating personnel, or the failure to attract and retain additional key personnel, could have
a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Employee relations—We depend on good relations with our workforce, and any significant disruption could adversely

affect us.

As of June 30, 2017, we employed approximately 7,000 people (measured as full-time equivalents (“FTEs”)) in
our operations around the world, not including employees of our joint ventures. The majority of our employees are
unionized. In addition, a majority of our employees reside in countries in which employment laws provide greater
bargaining or other rights to employees than the laws of the United States. These employment rights may require us to
expend greater time and expenses in altering or amending employees’ terms of employment or making staff reductions. For
example, most of our employees in Europe are represented by works councils which generally must approve changes in
conditions of employment, including salaries and benefits. Further, a labor disturbance or work stoppage at any of our
facilities as a result of any changes to our employment terms and conditions or for any other reason could have a material
adverse effect on that facility’s operations and, potentially, on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

27



Intellectual property—The failure of our patents, trademarks and confidentiality agreements to protect our intellectual
property could adversely affect our business.

Proprietary protection of our processes, apparatuses and other technology is important to our business, including
our manufacturing activities. Our actions to protect our proprietary rights may be insufficient to prevent others from
developing similar products to ours. In addition, the laws of many foreign countries do not protect our intellectual property
rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States and the United Kingdom. Furthermore, any pending patent
application filed by us may not result in an issued patent, or if patents are issued to us, such patents may not provide
meaningful protection against competitors or against competitive technologies. You should be aware that the expiration of
a patent or the failure of our patents to protect our formulations, processes, apparatuses, technology or proprietary
know-how could result in intense competition, with consequent erosion of profit margins. In addition, our competitors and
any other third parties may obtain patents that restrict or preclude our ability to lawfully manufacture and market our
products in a competitive manner, which could materially adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial
condition.

Some of our patents and patent applications are jointly owned with third parties. In many countries, both owners
have full rights under a jointly-owned patent. In the absence of a specific agreement, such third parties may use our
jointly-owned patents to compete with us or grant a license to our competitors. In addition, co-owners may not cooperate
with us to enforce or to defend a jointly-owned patent where necessary to protect our rights.

We also rely upon unpatented proprietary know-how and continuing technological innovation and other trade
secrets to develop and maintain our competitive position. While it is our policy to enter into confidentiality agreements with
our employees and third parties to protect our intellectual property, there can be no assurances that:

* our confidentiality agreements will not be breached;
* such agreements will provide meaningful protection for our trade secrets or proprietary know-how; or

* adequate remedies will be available in the event of an unauthorized use or disclosure of these trade secrets and
know-how.

In addition, there can be no assurances that others will not obtain knowledge of these trade secrets through
independent development or other access by legal means.

In the past we have received communications asserting that our products or their applications infringe on a third
party’s proprietary rights. Currently, there is no material pending litigation against us regarding any intellectual property
claim but we cannot assure you that there will not be future claims. Such claims, regardless of merit, could subject us to
costly litigation and divert our technical and management personnel from their regular responsibilities. Furthermore, if
such claims are adversely determined against us, we could be forced to suspend the manufacture of products using the
contested intellectual property and our business, financial condition and operating results could be adversely affected if any
such products are material to our business.

We may also initiate lawsuits to defend the ownership of our inventions and our intellectual property. Like
defending against litigation, initiating litigation relating to intellectual property rights is costly and may divert technical and
management personnel from their normal responsibilities. Furthermore, we may not prevail in any such litigation or
proceeding. A determination in an intellectual property litigation or proceeding that results in a finding of a
non-infringement by others to our intellectual property or an invalidation of our patents may result in the use by
competitors of our technologies or processes and sale by competitors of products that resemble our products, which may
adversely affect our ability to compete as well as create increased supply and corresponding downward pricing pressure.

We are subject to cyber security risks. A cyber incident could occur and result in information theft, data corruption,
operational disruption and/or financial loss.

Our industry has become increasingly dependent on digital technologies to conduct certain processing activities.
For example, we depend on digital technologies to perform many of our services and to process and record financial and
operating data. At the same time, cyber incidents, including deliberate attacks, have increased. Our technologies, systems
and networks, and those of our vendors, suppliers and other business partners, may become the target of cyberattacks or
information security breaches that could result in the unauthorized release, gathering, monitoring, misuse, loss or
destruction of proprietary and other information, or other disruption of business operations. In addition, certain cyber
incidents, such as surveillance, may remain undetected for an extended period. Our systems for protecting against cyber
security risks may not be sufficient. As cyber incidents continue to evolve, we will likely be required to expend additional
resources to continue to modify or enhance our protective measures or to investigate and remediate any vulnerability to
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cyber incidents. Further, the General Data Protection Regulation (Regulation (EU) 2016/679), coming into effect in Europe
in May 2018, will create a range of new compliance obligations, and increase financial penalties for noncompliance
significantly.

Internal controls—If we fail to maintain an effective system of internal controls over financial reporting, we may not be
able to accurately report our financial results or prevent fraud.

We have designed and continue to design our internal controls with the objective of providing reasonable
assurance that (1) our transactions are properly authorized; (2) our assets are safeguarded against unauthorized or improper
use; and (3) our transactions are properly recorded and reported, all to permit the preparation of our consolidated financial
information in conformity with applicable accounting principles. We design our internal controls through the use of
internal resources, external consultants and, as the case may be, with joint venture partners.

Any system of controls, however well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, and not absolute,
assurance that the objectives of the system are met. In addition, the design of any control system is based in part upon
certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events. Because of these and other inherent limitations of control
systems, there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future
conditions, regardless of how remote. Any failure to maintain adequate internal controls or to be able to produce accurate
consolidated financial information on a timely basis could increase our operating costs and materially impair our ability to
operate our business.

Feedstock supply from BP—BP provides us with a substantial proportion of our feedstock requirements, and several of
our sites depend entirely on BP for their supply of raw materials.

BP accounts for a substantial proportion of our petrochemical feedstock requirements. While the substantial
majority of these feedstocks are secured by long-term contracts (as generally described in the section entitled
“Business—Agreements with BP””), BP may terminate each of these agreements for cause or, after the initial terms, notice
of one to three years. If we lose BP as a supplier or if, as a result of operational problems at any of its facilities, BP is unable
or unwilling to supply us with raw materials in the required quantities or at all, we could experience disruptions that could
force us to shut down facilities. In addition, we could experience substantial delays in finding suitable replacement
feedstocks on commercially viable terms. At sites that are deeply integrated with BP’s facilities and therefore depend
entirely on BP for the supply of raw materials, we may be unable to find a suitable alternative supplier. If BP fails to supply
us with raw materials at any of these sites, we may be forced to close the affected facilities, either temporarily or
permanently. If any of these risks materialize, our business, results of operations and financial condition could be
materially adversely affected.

Credit Support Deed—The credit support we may be required to provide under our Credit Support Deed with BP may be
substantial.

In connection with the Innovene Acquisition, we initially entered into a series of arrangements with BP, including
a number of commercial and transitional support agreements, among them, a credit support arrangement, which was
replaced on January 5, 2017 by a new credit support agreement (the “Credit Support Deed”). See “Business—Agreements
with BP—Related Agreements.”

Under the Credit Support Deed, IHL and BP agreed to provide reciprocal credit support for trade obligations
under certain agreements between such parties or their affiliates if the existing credit support provided under the underlying
trading agreements is no longer satisfactory. Such additional credit support may take the form of an irrevocable standby
letter of credit issued by a bank meeting certain credit rating requirements or a requirement for the buyer to make payment
in advance for goods or services under the relevant trading agreement and must be provided at the request of the seller in the
event that (i) the existing credit support ceases to be effective in a material respect, (ii) there has been a material
deterioration in the nature and/or extent of the existing credit support or (iii) there has been a material increase in the
seller’s exposure to the buyer under the relevant trading agreement which is not supported by the existing credit support.
Further, payment obligations of various members of the Group under the trading agreements between such parties are
guaranteed by IGH.

The additional credit support required of INEOS under the Credit Support Deed could be substantial. Any failure
to provide such credit support under the Credit Support Deed would constitute a default under the Credit Support Deed. The
Credit Support Deed provides that in the event we fail to provide such credit support, BP may suspend performance of its
obligations under the relevant trading agreement between us and BP and, if such default is not remedied within specific
time period, BP may terminate the relevant trading agreements.
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Senior Secured Term Loans Agreement, the Existing Indentures and the Indenture—Qur Senior Secured Term Loans
Agreement, the Existing Indentures, and the Indenture impose significant operating and financial restrictions, which
may prevent us from capitalizing on business opportunities and taking certain actions.

Our Senior Secured Term Loans Agreement, the Existing Indentures and the Indenture impose significant
operating and financial restrictions on us. These restrictions include limitations on our ability to:

*  make investments and other restricted payments, including dividends;

¢ incur additional indebtedness;

» sell our assets or consolidate or merge with or into other companies;

e enter into joint ventures; and

*  make capital expenditures.

Our Senior Secured Term Loans Agreement, the Existing Indentures and the Indenture contain covenants that may
adversely affect our ability to finance our future operations and capital needs and to pursue available business
opportunities. A breach of any of these covenants could result in a default in respect of the related debt. If a default were to
occur, the relevant holders or the relevant lenders (as applicable) of such debt could elect to declare the debt, together with
accrued interest and other fees, immediately due and payable and, subject to certain limitations, proceed against any
collateral securing that debt. Refer to “Description of Other Indebtedness” for further information.

Future acquisitions—Any future acquisitions may prove difficult for us to consummate.

We have a history of making acquisitions and in the future we may acquire companies or assets engaged in similar
or complementary businesses to our own if we identify appropriate acquisition targets. However, restrictions in the Senior
Secured Term Loans Agreement, the Existing Indentures and the Indenture may limit or preclude our ability to make
certain acquisitions or capital expenditures. Further, we may use debt financing for any permitted acquisitions, which
would increase our debt service requirements. In order to manage any acquisitions we successfully complete, we will need
to expand and continue to improve our operational, financial and management information systems. If making acquisitions
or integrating any acquired business diverts too much management attention from the operations or our core businesses,
this could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations. Any acquisition that we make could be subject
to a number of risks, including:

* problems with effective integration of operations;

* the inability to maintain key pre-acquisition business relationships;

* increased operating costs;

»  costs related to achieving or maintaining compliance with laws, rules or regulations;

* the loss of key employees of the acquired company;

e exposure to unanticipated liabilities; and

+ difficulties in realizing projected efficiencies, synergies and cost savings.

We cannot assure you that any acquisition we consummate will ultimately provide the benefits we originally
anticipate. Furthermore, we may not succeed in identifying attractive acquisition candidates or financing and completing

potential acquisitions on favorable terms.

Credit and capital market conditions—Adverse conditions in the credit and capital markets may limit or prevent our
ability to borrow or raise capital.

While we believe we have facilities in place that should allow us to borrow or otherwise raise funds as needed,
adverse conditions in the credit and financial markets could prevent us from obtaining financing, if the need arises. We
have a significant amount of debt obligations maturing prior to the maturity date of the Notes. Our ability to invest in our
businesses and refinance maturing debt obligations could require access to the credit and capital markets and sufficient
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bank credit lines to support cash requirements. If we are unable to access the credit and capital markets, we could
experience a material adverse effect on our financial position or results of operations.

Pension plans—Significant changes in pension fund investment performance or assumptions relating to pension costs
may adversely affect the valuation of pension obligations, the funded status of pension plans, and our pension cost.

Our funding policy for pension plans is to accumulate plan assets that, over the long run, will approximate the
present value of projected benefit obligations. Our pension cost is materially affected by the discount rate used to measure
pension obligations, the level of plan assets available to fund those obligations at the measurement date and the expected
long-term rate of return on plan assets. Significant changes in investment performance or a change in the portfolio mix of
invested assets may result in corresponding increases and decreases in the valuation of plan assets, particularly equity
securities, or in a change of the expected rate of return on plan assets. Any change in key actuarial assumptions, such as the
discount rate, would impact the valuation of pension obligations, affecting the reported funded status of our pension plans
as well as the net periodic pension cost in the following fiscal years. Any declines in the fair values of the pension plans’
assets could require additional payments by us in order to maintain specified funding levels. Any decrease in interest rates
will result in an increase of pension liabilities. Our pension plans are subject to legislative and regulatory requirements of
applicable jurisdictions.

Eurozone—Market perceptions concerning the instability of the euro, the potential re-introduction of individual
currencies within the eurozone, or the potential dissolution of the euro entirely, could have adverse consequences for us
with respect to our outstanding debt obligations that are euro-denominated.

Recent developments in the eurozone have exacerbated the ongoing instability of the financial markets. Financial
markets may continue to be negatively impacted by concerns about a slowdown in growth in certain economies of the
Eurozone and uncertainties regarding the overall stability of the euro and the sustainability of the euro as a single currency
given the diverse economic and political circumstances in individual Member States. Governments and regulators have
implemented austerity programs and other remedial measures to respond to the eurozone debt crisis and stabilize the
financial system, but the actual impact of such programs and measures are difficult to predict.

In the event that the Eurozone debt crisis is not resolved, it is possible that one or more countries may default on
their debt obligations and/or cease using the euro and re-establish their own national currency or that the eurozone may
collapse. Should the euro dissolve entirely, the legal and contractual consequences for holders of euro denominated
obligations and for parties subject to other contractual provisions referencing the euro such as supply contracts would be
determined by laws in effect at such time.

The official exchange rate at which the Notes may be redenominated may not accurately reflect their value in euro.
These potential developments, or market perceptions concerning these and related issues, could adversely affect the value
of the Notes and could have adverse consequences for us with respect to our outstanding debt obligations that are
euro-denominated, and, as we have a substantial amount of debt denominated in euro, our financial condition may be
materially affected.

Furthermore, the Senior Secured Term Loans Agreement, the Existing Indentures and the Indenture contain
covenants restricting our and our subsidiaries’ corporate activities. See “Risks Relating to the Notes and Our Capital
Structure—Restrictive covenants in our debt instruments—We are subject to restrictive debt covenants that may limit our
ability to finance our future operations and capital needs and to pursue business opportunities and activities. If we default
under these covenants, we will not be able to meet our payment obligations.” Certain of such covenants impose limitations
based on euro amounts (e.g., the amount of additional indebtedness we or our subsidiaries may incur). As such, if the euro
were to significantly decrease in value, the restrictions imposed by these coven